Biological control of plant-parasitic nematodes by the fungus *Clonostachys rosea*

Mudassir Iqbal

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2019 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2019:72

Cover: Antagonism and biocontrol of fungus *Clonostachys rosea* against plantparasitic nematodes. wheat plants in pot trial (upper panel), killed nematodes in culture filtrates of *C. rosea* (left) and fungal colonization in eggs of soybean cyst nematodes (right).

(photos: Upper and lower right by Mudassir Iqbal, lower left by Mukesh Dubey)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-462-4 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-463-1 © 2019 Mudassir Iqbal, Uppsala Print: SLU Repro, Uppsala 2019

Biological control of plant-parasitic nematodes by the fungus *Clonostachys rosea*

Abstract

Plant diseases caused by plant-parasitic nematodes are serious constraints to sustainable crop production due to high yield losses, the persistent nature of these nematodes and a lack of efficient control methods. Biological control is a promising approach to reduce plant diseases caused by nematodes.

This study investigated the effect of the fungus Clonostachys rosea strain IK726 on nematode populations in a naturally nematode-infested soil planted with wheat in a climate chamber under controlled conditions. Populations of plant-parasitic nematodes extracted from soil and roots were 40 to 73% lower in soils when C. rosea was applied than in untreated soils, whereas non-parasitic nematodes were unaffected. Soil inoculation with C. rosea increased the shoot weight and shoot length of wheat plants by 20 and 24%, respectively. Light microscopy of in vitro C. rosea-nematode interactions did not reveal evidence of direct parasitism; however, culture filtrates of C. rosea grown in potato dextrose broth (PDB) exhibited toxicity towards nematodes and immobilized nematodes. A genome-wide analysis of protease genes showed that C. rosea contains more protease genes than other studied biocontrol fungi. A computational analysis of gene family evolution revealed a high gene copy number of serine protease subfamilies S8A, S9X and S33 in C. rosea, suggesting the involvement of these proteases in biotic interactions. A genome-wide association analysis of 53 strains of C. rosea further identified 279 single-nucleotide polymorphism markers that were significantly associated with the in vitro antagonism trait against plant-parasitic nematodes. Two nonribosomal peptide synthetase (NRPS) genes (nps4 and nps5) were identified in genomic regions associated with nematicidal activity whereas nps1 was included based on previous published reports of functional studies. Gene deletion strains of nps1, nps4 and nps5 were generated and showed increased growth and conidiation rates. Culture filtrates from C. rosea $\Delta nps1$, $\Delta nps4$ and $\Delta nps5$ strains exhibited reduced nematicidal activity and immobilized lower numbers of nematodes compared with the wild type after 24 h of incubation. However, NRPS deletion strains still possessed some nematicidal activity compared with the PDB control treatment, which may be due to the presence of additional nematicidal compounds or enzymes (e.g., serine proteases). Furthermore, $\Delta nps1$, $\Delta nps4$ and $\Delta nps5$ strains showed reduced biocontrol efficacy in a naturally nematode-infested soil in a pot experiment and failed to reduce populations of nematodes in soil or in roots of wheat as efficiently as the wild type strain.

This study demonstrates that *C. rosea* can control plant-parasitic nematodes and improve the growth of plants at the same time. The antagonistic potential of *C. rosea* could be used to control plant-parasitic nematodes, which may contribute to reduced applications of chemicals as part of an integrated pest management programme.

Keywords: antagonism, antibiosis, biocontrol, fungi, nematodes, NRPS, proteases

Author's address: Mudassir Iqbal, SLU, Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology, P.O. Box 7026, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden

Biologisk bekämpning av växtparaitiska nematoder med svampen *Clonostachys rosea*

Abstract

Sjukdomar på växter som orsakas av växtparasitiska nematoder är ett allvarligt hot mot en hållbar växtproduktion genom höga skördeförluster och brist på effektiva växtskyddsmetoder. Biologisk bekämpning är en lovande metod för att minska skördeförluster orsakade av växtparasitiska nematoder. I den här studien undersöktes hur svampen Clonostachys rosea isolat IK726 påverkar nematod-populationer i en naturligt infekterad jord i ett försök med vete i klimatkammare med kontrollerad miljö. Populationerna av växtparasitiska nematoder i jorden minskade med 40 till 73% när C. rosea applicerades jämfört med jord utan C. rosea. Icke-växtparasitiska nematoder påverkades inte. Applicering av C. rosea i jorden ökade vikten och längden på veteplantorna med 20 respektive 24%. Undersökningar av interaktionen mellan C. rosea och nematoder med mikroskop resulterade inte i några bevis för direkt parasitism. Filtrat av potatis dextros vätskekulturer från C. rosea uppvisade dock toxicitet mot nematoder. En jämförande analys av proteas-gener i svampars arvsmassa visade att C. rosea innehåller fler proteas-gener än andra svampar som används för biologisk bekämpning. En evolutionär analys av genfamiljer av proteaser visade att underfamiljerna S8A, S9X och S33 innehåller höga antal gener i C. rosea, vilket indikerar att dessa proteaser har en viktig funktion i biotiska interaktioner. En storskalig associationsanalys av 53 isolat av C. rosea identifierade vidare 279 mutationer som segregerade med in vitro antagonism mot växtparasitiska nematoder. Två gener (nps4 och nps5) för icke-ribosomala peptidsyntaser (NRPS) identifierades i de genomiska regioner som segregerade med antagonism, och ytterligare en NRPS gen (nps1) valdes ut för fortsatta funktionella studier baserat på befintlig litteratur. Mutanter av C. rosea där nps1, nps4 respektive nps5 inaktiverats med genetisk transformering uppvisade högre tillväxt och högre konidiering, jämfört med vildtypen. Filtrat från vätskekulturer av C. rosea mutanterna hade minskad toxicitet mot nematoder jämfört med vildtypen efter 24 timmars inkubation. Kulturfiltraten uppvisade dock fortfarande en viss toxicitet mot nematoder jämfört med kontrollbehandlingen, vilket indikerade att andra toxiska ämnen eller enzymer (t.ex. proteaser) fortfarande producerades av mutanterna. Inaktiveringen av nps1, nps4 och *nps5* resulterade också i minskad förmåga till biologisk bekämpning av rotsjukdom hos vete orsakad av växtparasitiska nematoder hos mutanterna, jämfört med vildtypen.

Den här studien visar att *C. rosea* kan bekämpa sjukdomar orsakade av växtparasitiska nematoder och förbättra tillväxten hos växter. Dessa egenskaper kan potentiellt användas inom integrerat växtskydd och därmed bidra till minskad användning av kemiska växtskyddsmedel.

Keywords: biologisk bekämpning, svampen, nematoder, NRPS, proteaser

Author's address Mudassir Iqbal, SLU, Department of Forest Mycology and Plant Pathology, P.O. Box 7026, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden

Dedication

To my **beloved parents**

Contents

List of publications Abbreviations 1			
1.1	Plant-parasitic nematodes and their divisions	15	
	1.1.1 Sedentary endoparasitic nematodes	17	
	1.1.2 Migratory endoparasitic nematodes	18	
	1.1.3 Semi-endoparasitic nematodes	19	
	1.1.4 Ectoparasitic nematodes	20	
1.2	Importance of plant-parasitic nematodes in field crops	21	
1.3	Crop losses caused by plant-parasitic nematodes	21	
1.4	Disease management of plant-parasitic nematodes	22	
1.5	The fungal biocontrol agent Clonostachys rosea	23	
1.6	The role of proteases in fungal biocontrol agents	24	
1.7	The role of non-ribosomal peptide synthetases in fungal biocontrol		
	agents	25	
2	Objective of the study	27	
3	Materials and Methods	29	
3.1	Fungal strains and maintenance conditions	29	
3.2	Biomining of fungal proteases	29	
3.3	Protease gene family evolution	29	
3.4	In vitro nematode antagonism assays	30	
3.5	Genome-wide association study	31	
3.6	Evaluation of C. rosea IK726 to control nematodes	31	
3.7	Gene expression analysis and nucleic acid manipulation	32	
3.8	Phylogenetic analysis of NRPS families in C. rosea	33	
3.9	Construction of NRPS gene deletion cassettes and transformation	33	
3.10	Phenotypic analyses of the NRPS deletion strains of C. rosea	34	
	3.10.1 Growth and conidiation rate	34	
	3.10.2 In vitro antagonism assay	34	
	3.10.3 Secondary metabolite analysis	34	
	3.10.4 In planta fusarium foot rot assay	35	
	3.10.5 In planta nematode root disease assay	35	

4	Resu	ts and Discussion	37			
4.1	Analysis of <i>in vitro</i> nematode antagonism					
4.2	Genome-wide association study analysis 3					
4.3	Effect of <i>C. rosea</i> on nematode communities and plant health 4					
4.4	Analysis of protease gene family evolution 4					
4.5	Gene expression analysis 43					
4.6	Phylogenetic analysis of NRPS families in <i>C. rosea</i> 44					
4.7	Phenotypic analyses of NRPS deletion strains					
	4.7.1	Growth and conidiation	45			
	4.7.2	Deletion of nps1, nps4 and nps5 genes attenuates in vitro				
		antagonism against nematodes	46			
	4.7.3	Secondary metabolite analysis of C. rosea wild type and NRPS	;			
		deletion strains	47			
	4.7.4	Deletion of nps1, nps4 and nps5 genes reduces C. rosea				
		biocontrol efficacy against fusarium foot rot disease	48			
	4.7.5	Deletion of nps1, nps4 and nps5 genes reduces C. rosea				
		biocontrol efficacy against nematode root disease	49			
5	Summary					
6	Futur	e perspectives	53			
Refere	ences		55			
Popul	ar scie	ence summary	65			
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning						
Ackno	Acknowledgements					

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Iqbal, M^{*}., Dubey, M., McEwan, K., Menzel, U., Franko, M. A., Viketoft, M., Jensen, D. F. and Karlsson, M. (2018). Evaluation of *Clonostachys rosea* for control of plant-parasitic nematodes in soil and in roots of carrot and wheat. *Phytopathology*, 108(1), pp. 52-59.
- II Iqbal, M^{*}., Dubey, M., Gudmundsson, M., Viketoft, M., Jensen, D. F. and Karlsson, M. (2018). Comparative evolutionary histories of fungal proteases reveal gene gains in the mycoparasitic and nematode-parasitic fungus *Clonostachys rosea. BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 18, 171.
- III Iqbal, M*., Dubey, M., Broberg, A., Viketoft. M., Jensen, D. F. and Karlsson, M. (2019). Deletion of the non-ribosomal peptide synthetase gene *nps1* in the fungus *Clonostachys rosea* attenuates antagonism and biocontrol of plant pathogenic *Fusarium* and nematodes. *Phytopathology*, 109(10), pp. 1698-1709.
- IV Iqbal, M^{*}., Broberg, M., Haarith, D., Broberg, A., Bushley, K., Durling, M. B., Viketoft, M., Jensen, D. F., Dubey, M. and Karlsson, M. A genome-wide association study for *in vitro* antagonism of *Pratylenchus penetrans* nematodes identifies non-ribosomal peptide synthetases as biocontrol factors in the fungus *Clonostachys rosea* (submitted).

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

*Corresponding author.

Additional publications and manuscripts

- Hyder, S., Inam, U. H. M., Fatima, N., Hannan, A., Alam, M. and Iqbal, M. (2019). First report of root rot of tomato caused by *Phytophthora syringae* in Pakistan. *Plant Disease*, 103(3), pp. 590.
- Nygren, K., Dubey, M., Zapparata, A., Iqbal, M., Tzelepis, G. D., Durling, M. B., Jensen, D. F. and Karlsson, M. (2018). The mycoparasitic fungus *Clonostachys rosea* responds with both common and specific gene expression during interspecific interactions with fungal prey. *Evolutionary Applications*, 11(6), pp. 931-949.
- Hyder, S., Inam, U. H. M., Ashfaq, M., Ahmad, A., Gondal, A. S and Iqbal, M. (2018). First report of *Pythium myriotylum* D., causing damping off and root rot in chili pepper (*Capsicum annum* L.) from Punjab, Pakistan. *Plant Disease*, 102(3), pp. 687.
- Iqbal, M., Ehlers, R. U. and Waeyenberge, L. (2016). Molecular characterisation of novel isolates of entomopathogenic nematodes. *Nematology*, 18(3), pp. 277-291.
- Khan, A. A., Dubey, M., Iqbal, Z., Atiq, M., Ahmed, W., Iqbal, M., Jensen, D. F. Karlsson, M. First report of *Penicillium citrinum* C., causing postharvest fruit rot of Kinnow (*Citrus reticulatae* B.) from Punjab, Pakistan (submitted).
- Broberg, M., Dubey, M., Iqbal, M., Gudmundsson, M., Ihrmark, K., Schroers, H. J., Jensen, D. F., Durling, M. B. and Karlsson, M. Comparative genomics of the fungal genus *Clonostachys*, subgenus *Bionectria*, provides insights into the genetic background of mycoparasitism and biological control (manuscript).

The contribution of Mudassir Iqbal to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Performed the experiments, generated the data and contributed to the analysis of data, wrote the paper with comments and suggestions from co-authors, and corresponded with the journal throughout the publication process.
- II Performed the experiments, contributed to the analysis of the data and wrote the paper with comments and suggestions from co-authors, and corresponded with the journal throughout the publication process.
- III Performed the experiments, generated the *nps1* deletion strains, carried out all phenotypic analyses of deletion strains, analysed the data and wrote the paper with comments and suggestions from co-authors, and corresponded with the journal throughout the publication process.
- IV Performed the experiments, contributed to the analysis of the data and wrote the paper with comments and suggestions from co-authors, and corresponded with the journal throughout the publication process.

Abbreviations

BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CAFE	Computational Analysis of Gene Family Evolution
CDD	Conserved Domain Database
CFU	Colony Forming Unit
DPI	Days Post-Inoculation
E-flask	Erlenmeyer flask
ETP	Epipolythiodiketopiperazine
GWAS	Genome-Wide Association Study
hyg	Hygromycin
lfsr	Local False Sign Rate
MEGA	Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NRPS	Non-Ribosomal Peptide Synthetase
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PDA	Potato Dextrose Agar
PDB	Potato Dextrose Broth
SNA	Synthetic Nutrient Medium
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
TCDB	Transporter Classification Database
UHPLC-MS	Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry
WT	Wild Type

1 /

1 Introduction

Nematodes are multicellular, pseudocoelomate, unsegmented worm-like animals, and commonly described as filiform or threadlike, a feature reflected by the taxon name *nema* (Greek, *nema* = thread) and its nominative plural *nemata*. The most recent classification by De Ley & Blaxter (2002) classified nematodes into a separate phylum, Nematoda (Kingdom Animalia); however, based on the most recent molecular phylogenetic analyses, twelve clades are now recognized within the Nematoda (Megen *et al.*, 2009; Holterman *et al.*, 2006).

Nematodes are the most numerous Metazoa on earth, comprising > 25,000 known species, and display a wide range of feeding habits, including animal parasitism, plant parasitism, bacterivory, fungivory and omnivory. They occur in almost every habitat, although they are essentially aquatic animals (Fig. 1; Decraemer & Hunt, 2013; Blaxter 2003). A range of different factors such as soil moisture, relative humidity and other environmental factors greatly influence nematode locomotion and survival. Soil structure is very important because pore size affects the ease with which nematodes can move through the soil interstices. In general, sandy soils provide the best environment for terrestrial nematodes; however, certain specialized nematodes can also colonize saturated clay soils. The soil pH influences nematodes to a certain degree, although temperature is considered to have a greater influence on nematode survival (Decraemer & Hunt, 2013).

1.1 Plant-parasitic nematodes and their divisions

To date, more than 4100 known species of plant-parasitic nematodes have been described, displaying a wide range of interactions with their hosts (Decraemer & Hunt, 2013). Plant-parasitic nematodes are obligate biotrophs. Based on their parasitic behaviour, they have been classified into different groups, such as sedentary endoparasites, migratory endoparasites, semi-endoparasites and ectoparasites (Jones *et al.*, 2013).



Figure 1. Interrelationship of nematode clades Megen *et al.* (2009). Different feeding groups of nematodes are shown alongside their phylogenetic positions. Infraorders (which are below suborders) are indicated in red. Figure from Jones *et al.* (2013) and reproduced with permission of the publisher.

1.1.1 Sedentary endoparasitic nematodes

Endoparasitism involves the entire nematode penetrating the root tissue and developing a permanent feeding site. This type of parasitism is shown by root-knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp.) and cyst nematodes (*Heterodera* and *Globodera* spp.).

Root-knot nematodes

Root-knot nematodes are distributed globally and the genus *Meloidogyne* contains at least 98 known species, which parasitize almost every species of vascular plant (Jones *et al.*, 2013). Four species that are economically very important are *Meloidogyne arenaria*, *M. incognita*, *M. javanica* and *M. hapla* (Moens *et al.*, 2009).

Root-knot nematode eggs are confined within gelatinous egg sacs and are commonly found on the surface of galled roots and, occasionally, occur within galls. Following embryogenesis, the first moult occurs within the egg, giving rise to the infective, second-stage juvenile (J2). The hatching of *Meloidogyne* J2 from eggs is usually temperature dependent and occurs without a plant-root stimulus; however, root diffusates in some instances stimulate hatching (Curtis et al., 2009). When J2 leave the egg masses, they start infecting galled roots in the vicinity or enter into new roots. Penetration generally occurs directly behind the root cap, but it can occur at any site. J2 penetrate the rigid root cell walls via a combination of physical damage, caused by thrusting their stylet, and enzymatic breakdown due to the secretion of cellulolytic and pectinolytic enzymes (Karssen et al., 2013). After penetrating the plant, they start moving upwards in the vascular cylinder towards the zone of differentiation. The J2 starts to establish a permanent feeding site, which comprises numerous giant cells. These cells function as specialized sinks, providing nutrients to the now sedentary J2. The head of the J2 is implanted in the peripheral vascular tissue. After feeding, the J2 swells and undergoes three further moults to reach the reproductive adult stage. J3 and J4 stages lack a functional stylet and do not feed. Males are generally vermiform and leave the root. Adult females continue to feed and expand to become pear-shaped.

Root-knot nematodes have unbalanced sex ratios. They show an extraordinary range of reproductive strategies, ranging from amphimixis to obligatory mitotic parthenogenesis (Chitwood & Perry, 2009). Most species are parthenogenetic, with males only developing under hostile conditions. The response of a plant to parasitism by root-knot nematodes depends on the host

plant and cultivar. Different factors such as crop rotation, nematode population density, season and soil type influence the intensity of the damage. Typical symptoms include wilting, stunted growth, leaf discoloration, deformation and heavily galled roots (Jones *et al.*, 2013; Hofmann & Grundler, 2007).

Cyst nematodes

Cyst nematodes are also endoparasitic nematodes, as mentioned above, and have great economic importance across the world. The most devastating species include potato cyst nematodes (*Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*), the soybean cyst nematode (*Heterodera glycines*) and cereal cyst nematodes (*H. filipjevi* and *H. avenae*). Economic losses are hard to define; however, soybean cyst nematodes are responsible for annual losses of 1.5 billion US dollars in the USA alone (Chen *et al.*, 2011). Potato cyst nematodes have been estimated to cause the loss of approximately 9% of total potato production globally (Turner & Rowe, 2006). Losses caused by cereal cyst nematodes depend to a large extent on environmental factors but occasionally can cause the loss of up to 90% of the crop (Nicol *et al.*, 2011).

Cyst nematodes moult to form the J2 during the egg dormant stage of the life cycle, which depends on the species and environmental factors. Hatching is influenced by host-originated chemical cues present in root diffusates and this stage is considered the end of dormancy (Perry, 2002). The J2 then finds its host, attacks, migrates devastatingly and intracellularly through the root until it reaches the inner cortex where it finds a suitable cell for developing as a feeding site, which becomes the initial syncytial cell (Golinowski et al., 1997). A syncytium is a large multinucleate feeding structure that is formed by the disintegration of the plant cell wall, which begins at the plasmodesmata and leads to the fusion of protoplasts of adjacent cells. The nematode stays at this feeding site for some weeks and undergoes three further moults to the J3, J4 and finally the adult stage. Females keep growing until their spherical bodies burst through the root surface, whereas males return to a vermiform body shape, exit the plant via a root and follow sex pheromone gradients to find females. After fertilization, the female dies and her body wall transforms into a cyst, which encloses the next generation of eggs.

1.1.2 Migratory endoparasitic nematodes

All life stages of migratory endoparasitic nematodes can be found within plant tissues. Unlike sedentary endoparasites, nematode species that belong to this group do not induce permanent feeding sites, but rather feed and reproduce while migrating between or through plant cells. Three nematode families are adapted to a migratory endoparasitic lifestyle. Of these, nematode species belonging to the family Pratylenchidae primarily inhabit cortical cells in roots and other belowground plant parts. Species in the families Anguinidae and Aphelenchoididae have an unusual lifestyle because they parasitize aboveground parts of plants, such as stems, buds, leaves and seeds. Three genera in the Pratylenchidae family, i.e., *Pratylenchus* (lesion nematodes), *Hirschmanniella* (rice root nematodes) and *Radopholus* (burrowing nematodes), are economically very important (Duncan & Moens, 2013).

More than 60 known species of root-lesion nematode are found worldwide. Root-knot and cyst nematodes have the greatest negative impact on crops globally, with root-lesion nematodes ranked third (Castillo & Vovlas, 2007). Root-lesion nematodes are economically very important and are often underrated pests of various crops, such as cereals, causing wheat yield losses of up to 30% in Australia (Vanstone *et al.*, 2008). They also infect a range of other crops, including banana, coffee, sugarcane, legumes, maize and numerous vegetables and fruit trees (Castillo & Vovlas, 2007). Some root-lesion nematode species are known for their enzymatic degradation of host tissues or for inducing hormonal imbalances that cause galling, swelling and other tissue distortions, and others are known for causing visible lesions when phenolic compounds are released in and around wounded cells (Duncan & Moens, 2013).

The life cycle of root-lesion nematodes lasts 3–8 weeks, depending on the species and environmental factors. After developing within the egg to the J1 stage, the nematode moults to form the J2, which hatches from the egg. All succeeding juvenile and adult stages are worm-like and mobile and can have the ability to infect host plant roots. Adults and juveniles can enter and leave roots and females lay eggs either inside the roots or in soil in the vicinity of roots. Although males are common in most species, some species do not produce males; however, reproduction often happens by parthenogenesis (Duncan & Moens, 2013; Jones *et al.*, 2013).

1.1.3 Semi-endoparasitic nematodes

Only the anterior part of the body of semi-endoparasitic nematodes penetrates the root while the posterior part remains in the soil. This lifestyle is represented by the *Tylenchulus* and *Rotylenchulus* genera.

In economic terms, the reniform nematode (*Rotylenchulus reniformis*) is a very important species and attacks a large number of annual and perennial species. Crop injury caused by *R. reniformis* is prevalent in tropical and subtropical regions and it is an important pest in the southern USA. The broad host range includes more than 350 plant species, including many economically

important vegetables, fruits, ornamentals and fibre crops, as well as weeds that support nematode populations in the absence of host crops (Chen *et al.*, 2011; Robinson *et al.*, 1997). The aboveground symptoms caused by *R. reniformis* infection look like those caused by moisture and nutrient deficiencies. However, root necrosis increases and root growth diminishes with limited secondary root development. Infected plants are also severely stunted and chlorotic. The degree of crop loss depends on nematode population density, crop growth conditions and temperature.

R. reniformis has a peculiar life cycle. The J2 hatch from 8–10-day-old eggs and undergo three successive moults without feeding, and then grow into vermiform adult males or females within 7–9 days. The young females are the infective stage. They enter into the roots of plants, inserting about one-third of their anterior body, and establish feeding sites on endodermal and pericycle cells (Megen *et al.*, 2009; Gaur & Perry, 1991). Males are present in large numbers in most populations. Generally, males do not feed and remain in the soil; however, they are attracted to females and several may become entrapped in the gelatinous matrix produced by the female. In some populations, males are rare or absent, and these populations may reproduce by parthenogenesis.

1.1.4 Ectoparasitic nematodes

Ectoparasitic nematodes live and feed on the external surface of a host and do not enter the host tissue. Instead, they use their stylet to perforate the host tissue and feed on the cytoplasm. The ectoparasitic nematode group includes sting nematodes (*Belonolaimus* spp.), stubby root (*Trichodorus* spp.), dagger (*Xiphinema* spp.) and needle (*Longidorus* spp.) nematodes. (Decraemer & Hunt, 2013; Jones *et al.*, 2013; Moens *et al.*, 2009). Ectoparasitic nematodes can be grouped into three categories based on their parasitic behaviour. i) Migratory ectoparasites, such as species belonging to the genera *Belonolaimus*, *Dolichodorus* and *Trichodorus*, which generally stay vermiform throughout their entire life cycle and feed for short periods of time along the root system. ii). Sedentary ectoparasites, such as species belonging to the *Helicotylenchus* and *Hoplolaimus* genera, which sometimes may act as ectoparasites (Decraemer & Geraert, 2013).

Ectoparasitic nematodes normally lay eggs in the soil, where they develop up to the J1 stage. Nematodes moult for the first time while still within the egg. Second stage juveniles leave the egg and move into the soil, find a host root, and penetrate the epidermal cells of the root surface with their stylet. After feeding for a period, the nematode removes its stylet and moves to a new site on the root to feed. After a period of time, the nematode undergoes three further moults and develops into an adult male or female. All stages of ectoparasitic nematodes from J2 to adult are motile and vermiform and vigorously feed on host roots (Decraemer & Geraert, 2013).

1.2 Importance of plant-parasitic nematodes in field crops

Plant diseases caused by plant-parasitic nematodes remain a problem in all field crops. As mentioned earlier in section 1, nematode survival is favoured by sandy soils, moisture and high temperature. In Sweden, these conditions are common on farms growing root and horticultural crops and, consequently, sugar beets, tomato, potatoes and carrots are among the crops most affected by diseases caused by nematodes.

Over the past decades, organic farming has increased rapidly throughout the world and is likely to expand further in the future given that it is being supported by legislation and subsidies in many countries. Features of organic crop production, for instance intercropping, compost use, perennial lays, mulching and the frequent cultivation of legume species, favour the development of nematode disease. In a survey carried out in Germany on organic farms, growers reported increased nematode problems after shifting to organic production (Hallmann et al., 2007). Increases in mean temperature and higher precipitation due to the ongoing process of climate change will also favour the development of crop diseases caused by nematodes, especially under organic settings. It is also likely that nematode problems are under-reported by farmers due to a lack of knowledge about the causal organism of these diseases and through confusing nematode disease symptoms with those caused by other organisms. The plantparasitic nematode genera that have the greatest impact on Swedish agriculture are root-knot nematodes (Meloidogyne spp.), cyst nematodes (Heterodera spp.), root-lesion nematodes (Pratylenchus spp.), stubby root nematodes (Trichodorus spp. and *Paratrichodorus* spp.) and needle nematodes (*Longidorus* spp.) (Nicol et al., 2007).

1.3 Crop losses caused by plant-parasitic nematodes

Crop losses due to plant-parasitic nematodes not only have an economic impact on agricultural crop production but also can affect food security. Plant-parasitic nematodes constitute 15% of the total population of nematodes and on average are estimated to cause annual crop losses worldwide of up to 14.6%. In economic terms, this is equivalent to losses of 157 billion US dollars annually (Abad *et al.*, 2008); however, occasionally, parasitism of a crop by nematodes can lead to the complete loss of a marketable yield (Nicol *et al.*, 2011; Barker & Koenning, 1998).

Cereal cyst nematodes (Heterodera spp.) can significantly decrease wheat vields and negatively affect other important cereals, including barley and oats. H. avenae in wheat has been estimated to cause yield losses of 30 to 100%, causing economic losses of 3.4 million US dollars every year in Idaho, Oregon and Washington (Nicol et al., 2007; Bonfil et al., 2004). In addition, root-lesion nematodes (Pratylenchus spp.) can cause further wheat losses (Lasserre et al., 1994). Cyst nematodes (G. pallida and G. rostochiensis) are major pathogens of potato and are estimated to cause losses of 50 million GBP in the UK alone (Jones et al., 2017). M. chitwoodi is also considered an important pest of potato (Brown et al., 2006). Almost 100 species of plant-parasitic nematodes from various genera have been reported to affect rice production and can cause yield losses of 10–25% (Trudgill & Blok, 2001). Among them, the most important species is *M. graminicola*, which is able to reduce yields by up to 80% (Soriano et al., 2000). Similarly, 50 species of plant-parasitic nematodes are known to parasitize maize. Among these, the needle nematode (Longidorus breviannulatus), which is associated with stunting in maize, is able to cause economic losses of up to 60% (Norton, 1983). Root-knot nematodes and Ditylenchus destructor parasitize sweet potato and have caused 100% yield losses in major sweet potato-producing countries, including in China, which is the top producer (Xu et al., 2015; Decraemer & Hunt, 2013; Zhang et al., 2006). More than 90 species of plant-parasitic nematodes from several genera parasitize umbelliferous crops, including carrot. Root-lesion nematodes (Pratylenchus spp.) and root-knot nematodes species, such as M. hapla and M. javanica, are important species affecting carrot production and are able to cause yield losses ranging from 20% up to 77% (Kim et al., 2016; Hay et al., 2004; Koenning et al., 1999).

1.4 Disease management of plant-parasitic nematodes

Chemical control methods can effectively control plant-parasitic nematodes in many cases (Barker & Koenning, 1998). However, because of their high cost, their toxicity to livestock and plants, their negative impact on biodiversity (Beketov *et al.*, 2013; Abad *et al.*, 2008), the development of resistance in nematode pathogen populations (Yamashita & Viglierchio, 1987; Yamashita *et al.*, 1986) and the banning of chemical soil disinfestation for nematode control in many countries, the use of chemicals to control nematode diseases is now

limited. Furthermore, the use of synthetic chemicals to control pests and diseases is prohibited in organic farming systems. These factors underscore the need to find effective, novel and environment-friendly alternatives that can be used instead of the legislatively withdrawn nematicides.

Certain soil-borne microorganisms, such as nematode-parasitic fungi, could potentially be used to control plant-parasitic nematodes. Basic research on nematophagous fungi belonging to the order Orbiliales (family Orbiliaceae) that develop specialized nematode-trapping structures has been conducted to understand their interaction biology (Nordbring-Hertz et al., 2006). Certain fungal species from genera such as Purpureocillium, Penicillium and Trichoderma also have potential as biological control agents (Martinez-Beringola et al., 2013; Atkins et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2005; Sharon et al., 2001). Trichoderma koningii and T. confer (cf.) harzianum are reported to control the root-knot nematode M. arenaria (Sharon et al., 2001; Windham et al., 1989) and T. cf. harzianum can control the citrus nematode Tylenchulus semipenetrans (Reddy et al., 1996a). The egg pathogenic fungus Purpureocillium lilacinum (previously Paecilomyces lilacinus) has been extensively tested against plantparasitic nematodes (Atkins et al., 2005) and successfully controls M. javanica and the potato cyst nematode G. rostochiensis (Cannayane & Sivakumar, 2001). However, its ability to control these nematodes under field conditions is inconsistent (Kerry & Evans, 1996). P. lilacinum and the nematode-trapping fungus Monacrosporium lysipagum, either alone or in combination, are able to reduce the number of *M. javanica* galls and juveniles by 62 and 94%, respectively, and to reduce the number of cysts caused by H. avenae by 65% (Khan et al., 2006).

1.5 The fungal biocontrol agent Clonostachys rosea

The ascomycete *Clonostachys rosea* (Link: Fr.) Schroers, Samuels, Seifert & W. Gams, comb. nov. (Schroers *et al.*, 1999) is a soil-borne mycoparasitic fungus and an effective biocontrol agent against fungal crop pathogens such as *Alternaria* spp. (Jensen *et al.*, 2004), *Bipolaris sorokiniana* (Jensen *et al.*, 2002), *Botrytis cinerea* (Sutton *et al.*, 1997), *Fusarium culmorum* (Jensen *et al.*, 2000), *F. graminearum* (Hue *et al.*, 2009) and *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* (Rodríguez *et al.*, 2011).

However, recently it has been shown that certain *Clonostachys* strains can potentially affect a range of different plant-parasitic nematodes (Fig. 2) through direct parasitism on several nematode life stages, including eggs and cysts (Zou *et al.*, 2010a; Zhang *et al.*, 2008; Li *et al.*, 2006; Sutton *et al.*, 1997). *C. rosea* is also reported to produce nematicidal compounds, such as leptosins, chetracin A,

chaetocin and gliocladines A, B, C, D and E (Dong *et al.*, 2005), enzymes, such as extracellular serine proteases (Zou *et al.*, 2010a) and chitinases (Tzelepis *et al.*, 2015; Gan *et al.*, 2007), which may be involved in the biocontrol effect against plant-parasitic nematodes. Some reports suggest that certain strains of *C. rosea* can interact with plant roots and trigger local and systemic resistance responses that suppress fungal diseases (Mouekouba *et al.*, 2014; Roberti *et al.*, 2008). The effect of induced resistance against nematodes needs to be studied further. Previous studies have also reported that *C. rosea* is involved in plant growth promotion (Roberti *et al.*, 2008; Ravnskov *et al.*, 2006).



Figure 2. Light microscopy (A) and fluorescence microscopy (B) images of *Clonostachys rosea* strain 611 infecting the nematode *Panagrellus redivivus*. (1) Conidia attached to the nematode cuticle (arrow 1), proliferating and mycelia penetrating the nematode body (arrow 2). (2) Mycelia growing inside the nematode body. (3) Mycelia growing out from the nematode body. (4) The fungus producing abundant conidia. Scale bar = 20 μ m. Figure from Zhang *et al.* (2008) and reproduced with the permission of the publisher.

1.6 The role of proteases in fungal biocontrol agents

Proteases are considered to play an important role in fungal adaptations to new environments and ecological niches, especially in biotic interactions (Prasad *et al.*, 2015). Fungal serine proteases have been suggested to play an important role in both pathogenic and mutualistic associations (Kamou *et al.*, 2016; Donatti *et al.*, 2008; Reddy *et al.*, 1996b).

Expanded gene sets of subtilisin-like serine proteases have been reported for entomopathogenic fungi, such as *Cordyceps militaris* (Zheng *et al.*, 2012), *Metarhizium* spp. (Gao *et al.*, 2011) *Beauveria bassiana* (Xiao *et al.*, 2012), and for nematode-parasitizing fungi, such as *Hirsutella minnesotensis* (Lai *et al.*,

2014), Drechslerella stenobrocha (Liu et al., 2014), Arthrobotrys oligospora (Yang et al., 2011), Pochonia chlamydosporia (Larriba et al., 2014), P. lilacinum (Prasad et al., 2015) and M. haptotylum (Meerupati et al., 2013). The situation is more complex in mycoparasitic fungi because T. virens and T. atroviride have been reported to have expanded gene sets of serine proteases (Kubicek et al., 2011), whereas T. reesei and T. longibrachiatum have contracted gene sets (Xie et al., 2014). Overexpression of serine proteases Tvsp1 in T. virens (Pozo et al., 2004) and Prb1 in T. cf. harzianum (Flores et al., 1997) enhanced the ability of these mycoparasites to protect cotton seedlings against the pathogen Rhizoctonia solani. Furthermore, serine proteases PRA1 from T. cf. harzianum and SprT from T. longibrachiatum (Chen et al., 2009) reduced egg hatching of M. incognita (Suarez et al., 2004), and ThSS45 from T. cf. harzianum inhibited growth of A. alternata (Fan et al., 2014). Serine proteases from several different nematode-parasitizing fungi, including Dactylella shizishanna, Lecanicillium psalliotae, H. rhossiliensis, A. oligospora and P. *lilacinum*, have been purified and shown to be involved in the degradation of the cuticle and the progression of the nematode infection (Yang et al., 2011; Li et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2005; Minglian et al., 2004).

Numerous serine protease genes in *C. rosea* strain IK726 are upregulated during parasitism of the silver scurf pathogen of potato (*Helminthosporium solani*) (Lysøe *et al.*, 2017). Furthermore, the *C. rosea* serine protease PrC is involved in the infection of nematodes (Zou *et al.*, 2010a), emphasizing the importance of proteases produced by this biological control agent.

1.7 The role of non-ribosomal peptide synthetases in fungal biocontrol agents

Secondary metabolites produced by biological control agents may influence the outcome of their interactions with plant pathogenic microorganisms and plants. Non-ribosomal peptide synthetases (NRPSs) are multifunctional, modular, megasynthases that play a role in the biosynthesis of small bioactive non-ribosomal peptides, utilizing a thiotemplate mechanism that is independent of the ribosomal protein synthesis machinery (Zou *et al.*, 2010a; Grünewald & Marahiel, 2006; Reiber *et al.*, 2005; Finking & Marahiel, 2004; Sieber & Marahiel, 2003; Mootz *et al.*, 2002). NRPSs synthesize peptides using modules, with each module responsible for incorporating a specific amino acid into the final peptide product. Each module typically contains at least three core domains: an adenylation domain, a thiolation or peptidyl carrier protein domain and a condensation domain. The adenylation domain recognizes and activates

the substrate, using ATP as an energy source (May *et al.*, 2002; Stachelhaus *et al.*, 1999; Conti *et al.*, 1997). The thiolation or peptidyl carrier protein domain accepts the activated substrate, which is bound to a 4'-phosphopantetheine cofactor as a thioester bond (Weber *et al.*, 2000), and transfers the substrate to a condensation domain, which is responsible for peptide bond formation between adjacent substrates on the megasynthase complex (Finking & Marahiel, 2004; Keating *et al.*, 2002; Keating *et al.*, 2000; Weber *et al.*, 2000).

The genome of *C. rosea* strain IK726 contains seventeen *nps* genes, including the *nps1* gene, which was predicted to encode an epipolythiodiketopiperazine (ETP) synthetase (Karlsson *et al.*, 2015), which is possibly involved in the biosynthesis of nematicidal epipolysulfanyldioxopiperazine compounds (Dong *et al.*, 2005). ETPs are derivatives of cyclic peptides and constitute a poorly studied class of secondary metabolites (Gardiner & Howlett, 2005). Dong *et al.* (2005) isolated nine verticillin-type epipolysulfanyldioxopiperazine compounds (i.e., gliocladin A–E, verticillin A, 11-deoxyverticillin A, Sch52900 and Sch52901) compounds from *C. rosea* strain 1A and all compounds showed toxicity towards *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *P. redivivus* nematodes, with more than 50% mortality after 24 h of incubation.

2 Objective of the study

The overall goal of this study was to investigate whether the fungus *C. rosea* strain IK726 can be used as a biological control agent against plant-parasitic nematodes in different crops and to investigate the possible mechanisms involved in nematode control by *C. rosea*.

This thesis is divided into four projects and the specific objectives were to:

- Investigate the effect of *C. rosea* on nematode communities, plant health and possible mechanisms involved in nematode control (paper I).
- Investigate the evolutionary history of the protease gene family in *C. rosea* and other hypocrealean fungi with an emphasis on their role in mycoparasitic and nematode parasitic lifestyles (paper II).
- Study the role of the *C. rosea* non-ribosomal peptide synthetase NPS1 gene product in antagonism and biocontrol of nematodes (paper III).
- Study genetic variations associated with nematode antagonism and biocontrol among *C. rosea* strains (paper IV).

3 Materials and Methods

3.1 Fungal strains and maintenance conditions

C. rosea strains (Broberg *et al.*, 2018), mutants derived from the *C. rosea* strain IK726 wild type (WT), *B. cinerea* strain B05.10 and *F. graminearum* strain PH-1 were maintained on potato dextrose agar (PDA) medium (Oxoid, Basingstoke, Hampshire, England) at 25°C in darkness. Petri plates of PDA were inoculated from stock cultures preserved in 20% (w/v) glycerol at -80°C.

3.2 Biomining of fungal proteases

Whole-genome nucleotide and protein sequences of ten hypocrealean fungi (*H. minnesotensis* (Lai *et al.*, 2014), *H. sinensis*, *H. thompsonii*, *Metarhizium robertsii* (Agrawal *et al.*, 2015; Hu *et al.*, 2014; Hu *et al.*, 2013), *T. virens*, *T. reesei*, *T. atroviride* (Kubicek *et al.*, 2011; Martinez *et al.*, 2008), *F. solani*, *F. graminearum* (Coleman *et al.*, 2009; Cuomo *et al.*, 2007) and *C. rosea* (Karlsson *et al.*, 2015)) and *Neurospora crassa* (Galagan *et al.*, 2003) were retrieved from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Proteases information for *M. robertsii* was retrieved from Hu *et al.* (2014). Proteases were identified and classified into families by BLASTp (Altschul *et al.*, 1997) against the MEROPS peptidase database (Rawlings *et al.*, 2016).

3.3 Protease gene family evolution

Previous phylogenetic placements of *C. rosea* within the Hypocreales order were retrieved from the literature (Karlsson *et al.*, 2015; Sung *et al.*, 2007; James *et al.*, 2006) and used for the analysis of protease gene family evolution. Branch lengths were calculated based on a four-gene alignment, including actin, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, DNA-directed RNA polymerase II subunit B and translation elongation factor 1 alpha. Coding gene sequences were retrieved from the respective genome sequences. Each gene was aligned

individually using Clustal W (Larkin *et al.*, 2007) in MEGA ver. 6 (Tamura *et al.*, 2013), concatenated and used to calculate branch lengths in MEGA ver. 6. The species phylogeny obtained was calibrated to the fossil record by setting the split between *H. minnesotensis* and *H. sinensis* to 29 million years, as described by Lai *et al.* (2014).

Gene family evolution analysis was performed on protease families that contained ≥ 2 genes in at least one species and were present in ≥ 2 species. The program CAFE (Computational Analysis of Gene Family Evolution) ver. 3 (Han *et al.*, 2013) was used to test whether gene family sizes were compatible with a stochastic birth and death model, to estimate gene family size in extinct species and to identify lineages with accelerated rates of gene gain or loss. A mutation rate (λ) of 0.017 was estimated based on the data.

3.4 In vitro nematode antagonism assays

Migratory endoparasitic nematodes (*Pratylenchus penetrans*) were purchased from the Laboratory of Nematology, Department of Plant Sciences, Wageningen University, Netherlands, and mixed nematode communities were extracted from naturally infested soil for use during *in vitro* antagonism assays. The level of nematicidal activity in liquid cultures of 53 *C. rosea* strains, including IK726, was measured by analysing culture filtrates. Culture filtrates were produced by inoculating 50 ml of potato dextrose broth (PDB) or synthetic nutrient medium (SNA) (Nirenberg, 1976) in E-flasks with 1×10^6 conidia/flask, and then incubating at 25°C on a rotating shaker (120 rpm) for five days under dark conditions. The fungal biomass was separated from the broth by filtering it through three layers of filter paper (Ahlstrom-Munksjö, Helsinki, Finland). The culture filtrate was further sterile filtrated through a 0.45 µm cellulose membrane (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany). The *C. rosea* IK726 culture filtrate that was produced in SNA medium was subjected to heat treatment (80°C) in order to denature secreted proteins and heat labile metabolites (Dubey *et al.*, 2014).

Eight hundred μ l of culture filtrate or liquid media (control) were mixed with 200 μ l of water containing approximately 100 nematodes, either *P. penetrans* or a mixed community of nematodes, and placed in a well of a 24-well plastic plate, followed by incubation at 25°C in the dark for 24 h. The number of dead nematodes was determined by washing the nematodes with cold water and by performing a touch assay under a light microscope (Wild M5A Heerbrugg, Heerbrugg, Switzerland) at 50× magnification (Gill *et al.*, 2003).

3.5 Genome-wide association study

The genome assemblies of 53 *C. rosea* strains, including IK726, were retrieved from previously published work (Broberg *et al.*, 2018). A genome-wide association study (GWAS) was executed using PLINK ver. 1.90 (Purcell *et al.*, 2007), using the parameters—maf 0.1—hwe 1e-5 for SNP filtering. The singlenucleotide polymorphism (SNPs) were annotated using the ANNOVAR software (Wang *et al.*, 2010). The resulting beta and beta standard deviation from the PLINK analysis were used as input to the R package ashr for empirical Bayesian multiple hypothesis testing and for estimating the local false sign rate (Ifsr) for significance approximation (Stephens, 2016). We used an lfsr of $\leq 1 \times$ 10^{-10} as a cut-off for significance. Identification of conserved protein modules and features were made using the conserved domain database (CDD, Marchler-Bauer *et al.*, 2017) and the transporter classification database (TCDB, Saier *et al.*, 2016).

3.6 Evaluation of C. rosea IK726 to control nematodes

Soil containing a naturally diverse community of nematodes, including plantparasitic genera, was collected from a wheat field during fallow conditions in Säby, close to Uppsala, Sweden. The soil was cleaned to remove clumps and mixed with sand (particle size, 0.50 mm) (Rådasand, Lidköping, Sweden) to a final content of 20% vol/vol. The formulation of *C. rosea* strain IK726 was prepared by following the procedure described by Jensen *et al.* (2000). Spore viability and the concentration of *C. rosea* strains in the formulations were determined using serial dilutions followed by mixing with soil to reach a final concentration of 2.5×10^5 viable colony forming units (CFU)/g of soil. Plastic pots ($9 \times 9 \times 10$ cm) were filled with 500 g of *C. rosea*-inoculated soil or uninoculated soil (control). Eight wheat seeds (*Triticum aestivum*, winter wheat variety "Stava") were planted in each pot and placed in a growth cabinet at 15°C with a 12 h/12 h light/dark photoperiod and a relative humidity of 70 ± 5%. All pots were subjected to the same watering regime throughout the seven-week experimental period.

When the experiment was harvested, plants were cut at the root-shoot junction at the surface of the soil; plant fresh shoot weight (g), dry shoot weight (g) and shoot length (cm) were recorded. Living nematodes were extracted from 15 g of soil and 1 g of harvested roots using a modified Baermann funnel method (Viketoft *et al.*, 2005; Baermann, 1917). Nematodes were counted under a light microscope (Wild M5A Heerbrugg, Heerbrugg, Switzerland). The classification of nematodes to genus level was based on an analysis of morphological characters.

3.7 Gene expression analysis and nucleic acid manipulation

Gene expression of S8A serine protease genes (*prs1* to *prs18*) and three NRPS genes (*nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5*) was determined during fungal-fungal interactions when *C. rosea* was challenged in a dual plate assay with *B. cinerea*, *F. graminearum* or with itself on 9-cm diameter Petri plates containing PDA. Cultures were incubated at 25°C in darkness. In order to compensate for differences in mycelial growth, *C. rosea* was inoculated five days before inoculating *B. cinerea* or *F. graminearum*. The edge of the growing front (7 to 10 mm) of *C. rosea* mycelium was harvested at contact with *B. cinerea* or *F. graminearum* mycelia. Mycelium harvested at the same stage when *C. rosea* confronted itself served as the control treatment.

The expression pattern of *C. rosea* protease genes was also investigated using different protein compounds. E-flasks containing PDB were inoculated with *C. rosea* conidia (2.5×10^5) and incubated at 25°C on a rotating shaker (100 rpm) for 4 days in darkness. Fungal biomass was separated from the broth by filtration using sterilized Miracloth (EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA) and mycelia were washed twice with 20 ml sterile water to completely remove the PDB. The washed mycelia were then transferred into new E-flasks containing 25 ml of sterile water (control) or a sterile water solution containing either 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany), 1% collagen (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) or 75 g/l of milk powder (Semper). The BSA and collagen solutions were sterile filtrated through a 0.45 µm cellulose membrane (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany). The milk powder solution was sterilized by autoclaving. E-flasks were incubated at 25°C on a rotating shaker (100 rpm) for 6 h under dark conditions to induce protease gene expression before harvesting mycelia.

Total RNA extraction was carried out using a Qiagen RNeasy kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). RNA was treated with RNase-free DNase I (Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) and concentration was determined spectrophotometrically using a NanoDrop-1000 (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE). One microgram of total RNA was reverse transcribed in a total volume of 20 μ l using a Maxima first strand cDNA synthesis kit (Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) followed by 10-fold dilution. Transcript levels were quantified using an iQ5 qPCR system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) using the SsoFast EvaGreen Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA), as described previous (Kamou *et al.*, 2016). Relative expression levels of the investigated NRPS and serine protease genes were calculated in relation to the reference gene β -tubulin (*tub*) (Mamarabadi *et al.*, 2008) using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001).

3.8 Phylogenetic analysis of NRPS families in C. rosea

A reference set of fungal NRPS protein sequences was retrieved from Bushley and Turgeon (2010) for phylogenetic analyses. Adenylation domains of NPS1 were predicted using SMART, a simple modular architecture research tool (Letunic & Bork, 2018). Adenylation domain sequences were extracted and aligned using Clustal W, and a phylogenetic tree was constructed using MEGA ver. 6 (Tamura *et al.*, 2013). The evolutionary history of NRPS families based on adenylation domains was inferred using a maximum likelihood method. The LG amino acid substitution model (Le & Gascuel, 2008) was identified as optimal for modelling gamma distributed rates among sites and partial deletion of gaps was performed for phylogenetic tree analysis. Statistical support was determined by 1000-iteration bootstrap resampling.

The adenylation domains of NPS4 and NPS5 proteins were extracted using HMMER ver. 3.1b2 and a custom HMMER model created for fungal adenylation domains (Bushley & Turgeon, 2010). The adenylation domains were aligned with mafft (Katoh *et al.*, 2002), along with a reference set of adenylation domains from fungal NRPS with known chemical products (Bushley & Turgeon, 2010) as outgroups. A maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree was created using RAxML (Stamatakis *et al.*, 2008) with the best-fitting protein model (RTREVF) estimated by ProtTest (Abascal *et al.*, 2005).

3.9 Construction of NRPS gene deletion cassettes and transformation

A three-fragment multisite gateway cloning system (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was used to delete NRPS genes (*nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5*) in *C. rosea*. Gateway entry clones of the PCR fragments were generated according to the manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA); entry clones for the hygromycin-resistance cassette (hygB) were constructed during previous studies (Dubey *et al.*, 2013, 2012). The gateway LR recombination reaction was performed using the entry plasmid of the respective fragments and the destination vector pPm43GW (Karimi *et al.*, 2005) to generate a deletion cassette following the conditions described by the manufacturer (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Each deletion cassette contained upstream and downstream flanking sequences of approximately 1200 to 2000 bp together with the marker gene. Transformation

of *C. rosea* IK726 was performed using an *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* protocol, as described previously (Dubey *et al.*, 2016; Utermark & Karlovsky, 2008).

3.10 Phenotypic analyses of the NRPS deletion strains of *C. rosea*

3.10.1 Growth and conidiation rate

In order to measure the growth rate of *C. rosea* WT and NRPS deletion strains (*nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5*), a 5-mm diameter agar plug was excised from the growing mycelia and transferred to PDA plates. Cultures were incubated at 25°C under dark conditions and colony diameter was measured daily for up to seven days post-inoculation (DPI). Conidiation rates of *C. rosea* NRPS deletion strains and WT were determined as follows: conidia were harvested from 2-week-old cultures maintained on PDA plates at 25°C under dark conditions by adding 7-ml of sterile water to the culture and then scraping the surface of the mycelium with a glass rod to release the conidia. Conidia were counted using a haemocytometer (Hausser Scientific, Horsham, PA).

3.10.2 In vitro antagonism assay

The nematicidal inhibition level was measured in PDB cultures of *C. rosea* WT and NRPS deletion strains (*nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5*). The same procedure was used to produce culture filtrate and to assess nematode mortality as described earlier in section 3.4.

3.10.3 Secondary metabolite analysis

To examine the involvement of NRPS in secondary metabolite production, culture filtrates of *C. rosea* WT and NRPS deletion strains (*nps1, nps4* and *nps5*) were further analysed by performing ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS). UHPLC-MS analysis was performed using an Agilent 1290 Infinity II UHPLC (Agilent, Palo Alto, CA, USA) attached to a Bruker maXis Impact QTOF MS (Bruker Daltonic GmbH., Bremen, Germany). Samples (1 μ l) were analysed on a reversed phase UHPLC column (2.1 × 50 mm, 1.5 μ m, Accucore Vanquish, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA), eluted using acetonitrile (MeCN) gradients in water and 0.2% formic acid (i.e., 10% to 95% MeCN for 3 min and 95% MeCN for 1.2 min at 0.9 ml/min). The MS was used in positive mode in the range m/z 50–1500.

Compass Data Analysis 4.3 software (Bruker Daltonics) was used to calibrate mass spectra against sodium formate clusters to create extracted-ion chromatograms corresponding to expected substances, and to convert data to mzXML format. Ion-chromatogram peak picking was conducted within the R software environment using the program XCMS (Smith *et al.*, 2006) and the centWave method (Tautenhahn *et al.*, 2008).

3.10.4 In planta fusarium foot rot assay

A fusarium foot rot assay on wheat (*T. aestivum*, winter wheat variety "Stava") seedlings was performed to determine the efficacy of *C. rosea* WT and NRPS deletion strains (*nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5*) as biocontrol agents against *F. graminearum*, following the procedure described in previous studies (Dubey *et al.*, 2016; Dubey *et al.*, 2014; Knudsen *et al.*, 1995). The experiment was conducted in a growth cabinet under controlled conditions: i.e., a light/dark photoperiod of 12 h/12 h with 150 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity, a temperature of $15^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$ and a relative humidity of $80 \pm 5\%$. Seedlings were harvested three weeks post-inoculation and disease symptoms were scored based on a 0 to 4 scale, as described previously (Dubey *et al.*, 2016; Dubey *et al.*, 2014; Knudsen *et al.*, 1995).

3.10.5 In planta nematode root disease assay

A nematode root disease assay on wheat (*T. aestivum*, winter wheat variety "Stava") was carried out to evaluate the biocontrol efficacy of *C. rosea* WT and NRPS deletion strains using the same method as that described earlier in section 3.5. When the experiment was harvested, the same parameters regarding nematodes and plant growth were taken into account as described in section 3.6.

4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Analysis of in vitro nematode antagonism

Observations of interaction bioassays using light microscopy did not reveal any signs of C. rosea strain IK726 attaching to or penetrating nematodes, which indicates that C. rosea does not directly parasitize nematodes (paper I). However, culture filtrates of 53 C. rosea strains grown in PDB medium exhibited varying levels of toxicity against P. penetrans nematodes compared with the control treatment after 24 h of incubation (paper IV, Fig. 3). An assessment of the antagonistic ability of C. rosea strain IK726 against a mixed community of nematodes revealed that plant-parasitic nematode genera showed higher mortality in culture filtrates than non-parasitic nematode groups (paper I). Varying levels of toxicity in culture filtrates indicated the production and secretion of nematicidal metabolites and/or enzymes by C. rosea strains. C. rosea strain 1A grown on wheat kernels for 20 days has previously been reported to produce nematicidal ETPs (Dong et al., 2005), and it is possible that similar compounds were produced by C. rosea strains in the liquid culture conditions used in the present study. C. rosea strain 611 has also been shown to produce the extracellular serine protease PrC during growth on PDB, which killed up to 80% of P. redivivus nematodes after 48 h of incubation (Li et al., 2006).

SNA medium was used to produce the culture filtrate of *C. rosea* IK726 to evaluate whether the nematicidal activity was heat stable (paper I). The heat treatment reduced but did not eliminate the toxic effects of culture filtrates on nematodes (mixed community) after 12 h of incubation. After prolonged incubation, nematode mortality levels in heat-treated culture filtrates were not significantly different from those in sterile SNA medium (controls) (paper I, Fig. 4). A previous study reported that boiling crude extracts of *C. rosea* strain 611 reduced nematicidal activity by up to 80% (Li *et al.*, 2006), which is very similar to the results obtained for *C. rosea* strain IK726 in the current work. This shows that the major nematicidal activity in culture filtrates of *C. rosea* stems from heat-labile compounds or enzymes, but that some activity still remains after heat treatment.



Figure 3. Mortality of migratory endoparasitic nematodes (*Pratylenchus penetrans*) in culture filtrates of 53 *Clonostachys rosea* strains in potato dextrose broth. Nematode mortality was assessed in culture filtrates from *C. rosea* strains and in sterile liquid medium (control) after 24 h of incubation at 25°C. Error bars represent the standard deviation based on five biological replicates. Asterisks indicate a significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) between a *C. rosea* culture filtrate and the control, as determined by Fisher's least significant difference (paper IV).



Figure 4. Nematode mortality in *Clonostachys rosea* IK726 culture filtrates in synthetic nutrient medium (SNA) over time. Nematode mortality was assessed in SNA culture filtrates (C. filtrate), heat-treated culture filtrates (C. filtrate heated) and in sterile SNA medium (control) after 12, 24, 36 and 48 h of incubation. Error bars represent the standard deviation based on five biological replicates. Treatments marked with different letters within each time point are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) as determined by a chi-squared test. Figure from Iqbal *et al.* (2018a) and reproduced with the permission of the publisher (paper I).

4.2 Genome-wide association study analysis

There was significant variation among *C. rosea* strains regarding their antagonistic ability against *P. penetrans* nematodes (Fig. 3), which suggests that a GWA analysis of the trait is possible. The empirical multiple hypothesis correction identified a total of 279 SNP markers that were associated with *in vitro* antagonism against *P. penetrans* at lfsr $\leq 1 \times 10^{-10}$ (paper IV).

Two NRPSs genes (*nps4* and *nps5*) were identified in the genomic regions associated with the trait and, therefore, these genes were studied in more detail (paper IV). The *nps1* gene was selected for functional studies (paper III) based on previous suggestions that NPS1 is involved in producing nematicidal compounds in *C. rosea* (Karlsson *et al.*, 2015; Dong *et al.*, 2005). Thus, functional studies were performed on *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* genes to determine their role in the biocontrol of nematodes.

4.3 Effect of *C. rosea* on nematode communities and plant health

Screens of the naturally infested soil sample revealed that it contained a number of plant-parasitic nematode genera (i.e., Heterodera, Helicotylenchus, Pratylenchus, Paratylenchus, Tylenchorhynchus, Trichodorus and Rotylenchus) and other trophic groups, i.e., bacterivorous, fungivorous and omnivorous nematodes. The application of C. rosea to soil in pots of wheat plants decreased the number of plant-parasitic nematodes recovered from the pot soil, with the exception of *Trichodorus* (paper I, Fig. 5). Similarly, the number of nematodes extracted from roots (Pratylenchus spp. and Heterodera J2) was also reduced compared with the control treatment without C. rosea. This reduction in plantparasitic nematode numbers also correlated with a better growth performance of wheat plants and an absence of disease symptoms usually associated with nematode damage of roots, such as yellowing of leaves and chlorosis (Jones et al., 2013). The C. rosea treatment also reduced the populations of Heterodera spp., Helicotylenchus spp., Trichodorus spp. and Pratylenchus spp. when applied to soil in pots without plants. This indicates that C. rosea has a direct effect on nematode survival that this effect is not dependent on the presence of plants (paper I).

Interestingly, non-parasitic nematode groups (i.e., bacterivorous. fungivorous and omnivorous) populations did not appear to be negatively affected by the C. rosea treatment (paper I, Fig. 5), which suggests that the activity of *C. rosea* has a certain level of specificity. This is further supported by the in vitro study, in which plant-parasitic nematodes showed higher levels of mortality in culture filtrates of C. rosea than other nematode groups (paper I). Previously, Hallmann and Sikora (1996) showed that culture filtrates of F. oxysporum inactivated 60-100% of plant-parasitic nematodes while bacterivorous and fungivorous nematodes were unaffected. Similarly, culture filtrates of *P. lilacinum* killed up to 100% of plant-parasitic nematodes while on average only 25% of bacterivorous, fungivorous and entomopathogenic nematodes were killed (Cavrol et al., 1989). C. rosea IK726 can effectively colonize the root surface of tomato (Karlsson et al., 2015) and, therefore, it may have a greater impact on plant-parasitic nematodes that live in the same ecological niche (Hallmann & Sikora, 1996). Similar effects on nematode populations and plant growth were observed when C. rosea IK726 was grown in soil with carrot plants (paper I).



Figure 5. Effect of *Clonostachys rosea* IK726 (Cr) on plant-parasitic nematode genera and trophic groups recovered from wheat plant soil. The horizontal axis represents the different treatment combinations while the vertical axis shows the number of nematodes extracted per 15 g of soil. Treatments marked with different letters in each nematode group are significantly different as determined by the Tukey method ($P \le 0.05$). Eight biological replicates were included per treatment. Bars show medians and boxes indicate the 25th and 75th percentiles. Figure from Iqbal *et al.* (2018a) and reproduced with the permission of the publisher (paper I).

4.4 Analysis of protease gene family evolution

Based on the reported involvement of the PrC serine protease in nematode antagonism, the evolution of protease genes in *C. rosea* was studied. The highest number of protease genes was found in *C. rosea* and a comprehensive analysis using CAFE revealed five serine protease families, S1A, S8A, S9X, S12 and S33, which were recognized as evolving non-randomly. Among them four serine protease families, S1A, S8A, S9X and S33, were found to be expanded in *C. rosea* (paper II); however, only the S8A family was studied in detail (Fig. 6). The analysis also revealed an expansion of serine protease gene copy numbers in *T. virens* and *T. atroviride* (mycoparasites) and in *M. robertsii* (entomopathogenic), suggesting that serine proteases play an important role in ecological niche adaptation (paper II). The expansion of serine protease gene families in *C. rosea* and in the other mycoparasites (*T. virens* and *T. atroviride*),

but not in the nematode-parasitizing fungus *H. minnesotensis*, indicates that these protease gene families are coupled with a mycoparasitic lifestyle. However, it is worth mentioning that the opportunistic lifestyle of *C. rosea* and of some *Trichoderma* species (*T. longibrachiatum*, *T. atroviride* and *T. cf. harzianum*) includes antagonism towards nematodes (Chen *et al.*, 2009; Sharon *et al.*, 2001). Gene deletion of serine protease S8A PrC in *C. rosea* has been reported to attenuate antagonism against nematodes (Zou *et al.*, 2010a; Zou *et al.*, 2010b). This suggests a connection between the expanded gene copy number of serine proteases in *C. rosea* and nematode virulence in *C. rosea*. Previously it has been shown that the serine protease SprT from *T. longibrachiatum* and PRAI (a trypsin-like protease) from *T. cf. harzianum* decreased the number of *M. incognita* eggs that hatched (Chitwood & Perry, 2009; Suarez *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 6. Distribution of serine protease gene gain and loss in the S8A family. Circled numbers indicate the number of serine protease genes in the S8A family in extant species and estimates of the total number of serine protease genes for ancestral species. Red lineages show a significant ($P \le 0.05$) expansion of serine protease genes and blue lineages represent a significant ($P \le 0.05$) contraction of serine protease genes. Figure from Iqbal *et al.* (2018b) and reproduced with the permission of the publisher (paper II).

4.5 Gene expression analysis

Only one (prs6) out of eighteen S8A serine protease genes was induced during confrontation with F. graminearum compared with the control treatment (paper II, Fig. 7A). A previous study reported that numerous C. rosea IK726 serine protease genes were induced during parasitism of the potato pathogen H. solani (Lysøe et al., 2017). It is possible that several proteases take part in the deterioration and nutrient discharge from dead fungal prey (Sun et al., 2015; Steindorff et al., 2014; Vieira et al., 2013); however, certain proteases also have roles in detecting fungal prey. The *prb1* protease gene in *T. atroviride* is upregulated just prior to hyphal contact with R. solani, and overexpression in mutant strains leads to better protection of cotton seedlings compared with that conferred by the WT T. atroviride strain (Flores et al., 1997). Furthermore, the upregulation of the prs6 gene during physical contact between F. graminearum and C. rosea in this study is compatible with the PRS6 protein having such a sensing function. A low level of C. rosea PrC serine protease is essential for the induction of the prC gene by the presence of nematode cuticle (Zou et al., 2010a), providing further support for this idea.

Complex transcriptional response patterns were observed for C. rosea S8A serine protease genes when C. rosea was grown on different protein sources. During growth on milk powder, eight S8A serine protease genes were induced at different levels (3- to 34-fold change) compared with the control treatment (water). Six C. rosea genes were induced during growth on BSA at varying levels (12- to 22-fold change) compared with the control treatment. Collagen is a major constituent of the nematode cuticle and, therefore, it was included in this assay; however, interestingly, none of the investigated S8A serine protease genes were induced during growth on collagen (paper II). This contradicts previous findings that a prc gene in C. rosea strain 611 (which is likely to be an orthologue of *prs14* in *C. rosea* strain IK726) was induced by adding nematode cuticle material to the growth medium (Zou et al., 2010a). Nematode cuticle material also induced subtilisin-like serine proteases in the nematophagous fungus *M. haptotylum* (Ahren *et al.*, 2005). It is likely that additional factors other than the presence of collagen in nematode cuticle are necessary for the induction of S8A serine protease genes. However, other intrinsic differences between the *C. rosea* strain IK726 (from Denmark) and strain 611 (from China) might also explain the difference in transcriptional responses.

The *nps1* gene was induced during confrontations with *B. cinerea* (paper III, Fig. 7B), and *nps4* and *nps5* genes were similarly induced (paper IV), which suggests that NRPSs play important roles during interspecific fungal interactions. None of these genes were induced during confrontations with *F. graminearum*. Previously, it has been shown that the *nps13* gene in *C. rosea*

IK726 was induced when confronted with *B. cinerea* but not induced during interactions with *F. graminearum* (Nygren *et al.*, 2018). Similarly, in the truffle-parasitizing fungus *Tolypocladium ophioglossoides*, the NRPS-like gene TOPH 03459 was highly upregulated during growth in yeast malt broth compared with broths that contained material from the truffle host, i.e., *Elaphomyces muricatus* (Quandt *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 7. Expression analyses of the S8A serine protease gene *prs6* (A) and the non-ribosomal peptide synthetase gene *nps1* (B) determined by performing RT-qPCR during interactions between *Clonostachys rosea* and its fungal prey. The interactions were *C. rosea* with *Fusarium graminearum* (Cr-Fg), *C. rosea* with *Botrytis cinerea* (Cr-Bc) and *C. rosea* with itself (Cr-Cr), which acted as the control. Relative expression was calculated as the ratio between the target genes and tubulin using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. *Prs6* gene expression was significantly higher ($P \le 0.05$) during interactions with Cr-Fg than during Cr-Bc or Cr-Cr interactions (A), while *nps1* gene expression during the Cr-Bc interaction was significantly higher ($P \le 0.05$) than during the Cr-Fg or Cr-Cr interactions (B), as determined by the Tukey-Kramer test. Error bars represent the standard deviation based on five biological replicates. Figure adapted from Iqbal *et al.* (2019, 2018b,) and reproduced with the permission of publishers (paper II & III).

4.6 Phylogenetic analysis of NRPS families in C. rosea

Phylogenetic analysis of the NPS1 protein sequence based on adenylation domains resolved nine major NRPS subfamilies, as shown previously (Bushley & Turgeon, 2010). The predicted NPS1 protein sequence was contained in two adenylation domains. The first predicted NPS1 adenylation domain clustered in the ChNPS11/ETP module 1 synthetase subfamily of toxins (e.g., gliotoxin and sirodesmin) with 99% bootstrap support, while the other adenylation domain clustered in clustered in the ChNPS12/ETP module 2 subfamily (paper III).

Phylogenetic analysis of NPS4 and NPS5 showed that both of these NRPSs belong to the euascomycete synthase clade, which has been shown to be expanded in euascomycete fungi and to contain primarily multimodular NRPSs, many of which may have niche-specialized functions (Bushley & Turgeon,

2010). The *C. rosea* NRPS4 belonged to the large clade containing peptaibol synthetases, including TEX1 from *T. virens*, and encodes an eleven modular amino acid peptaibol synthase. Three of the adenylation domains from *C. rosea* NRPS5 were grouped in a clade containing NRPS8 from the corn pathogen *Cochliobolus heterostrophus* and peramine synthase from *Epichloë/Neotyphodium* endophytes of grasses. However, the remaining two adenylation domains of NRPS5 grouped closely with the second module of PS1 and PS4, two NRPSs involved in the synthesis of ergot alkaloids in *Claviceps purpurea* (paper IV).

4.7 Phenotypic analyses of NRPS deletion strains

4.7.1 Growth and conidiation

Deletion of the *nps1* gene in *C. rosea* led to an increased growth and conidiation rate on PDA plates compared with WT (paper III, Fig. 8A and B). Similar results were obtained using the nps4 and nps5 deletion strains (paper IV). These results indicate that metabolites produced by NRPS might have a toxic effect on the fungus itself and exert an inhibitory effect on C. rosea growth. Alternatively, deletion of NRPS genes could allow the distribution of resources for growth and conidiation that would otherwise be used for secondary metabolite biosynthesis (Calvo et al., 2002), i.e., there is likely to be a trade-off between using resources for growth versus secondary metabolite production. Mukherjee et al. (2018, 2012) also reported similar results in studies involving the mycoparasite T. virens in which deletion strains of NRPS genes (i.e., tex7, tex8, tex10 and tex13) showed increased growth rates compared with the WT. The results of the present study are also in line with previous findings that deletion of the polyketide synthetase genes pks22 and pks29 in C. rosea strain IK726 resulted in increased conidiation, showing that the production of secondary metabolites may have an important implication on growth and development in C. rosea (Fatema et al., 2018).



Figure 8. Growth and conidiation rate of *Clonostachys rosea* wild type and *nps1* deletion strains on potato dextrose agar (PDA) Petri plates. (A) Growth rate was measured daily up to seven days post-inoculation (DPI). (B) Conidiation was measured at 14-DPI. The growth rate experiment was performed using three biological replicates whereas the conidiation experiment was performed using four biological replicates. Error bars represent the standard deviation and different letters show statistically significant differences between treatments within an experiment based on the Tukey-Kramer test. Figure from Iqbal *et al.* (2019) and reproduced with the permission of the publisher (paper III).

4.7.2 Deletion of *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* genes attenuates *in vitro* antagonism against nematodes

The antagonistic ability of $\Delta nps1$ strains was evaluated in culture filtrates against a mixed community of nematodes, whereas *P. penetrans* nematodes were used to assess the antagonistic potential of $\Delta nps4$ and $\Delta nps5$ strains. The results showed that the antagonistic impact of $\Delta nps1$ strains was significantly lower than that of *C. rosea* WT (paper III, Fig. 9), which suggests that NPS1 is involved in biosynthesizing a metabolite with nematicidal activity. $\Delta nps4$ and $\Delta nps5$ strains also displayed lower antagonism against *P. penetrans* than WT in a similar manner to that observed for the *C. rosea* $\Delta nps1$ strains (paper IV). Previously, nine verticillin-type ETP compounds (i.e., gliocladin A–E, verticillin A, 11-deoxyverticillin A, Sch52900 and Sch52901) were isolated from *C. rosea* strain 1A and all these compounds had shown toxicity against *C. elegans* and *P. redivivus* nematodes, with more than 50% nematode mortality following 24 h of incubation (Dong *et al.*, 2005).

However, deletion of *nps1*, *nps4* or *nps5* genes did not abolish 100% of the *C. rosea* antagonistic ability; culture filtrates of these strains still possessed a certain degree of nematicidal activity compared with the control treatment (papers III and IV, Fig. 9), which suggests that other associated compounds or enzymes, such as serine proteases, are involved in nematode antagonism, as discussed in section 4.5.



Figure 9. Nematode mortality in culture filtrates of *Clonostachys rosea* wild type (WT) and $\Delta nps1$ strains in potato dextrose broth (PDB). Nematode mortality was measured after 24 h of incubation in culture filtrates of *C. rosea* WT, $\Delta nps1$ strains and in sterile PDB medium (control). Error bars represent the standard deviation based on five biological replicates. Different letters indicate a statistically significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) between treatments as determined by Fisher's least significant difference test. Figure from Iqbal *et al.* (2019) and reproduced with the permission of the publisher (paper III).

4.7.3 Secondary metabolite analysis of *C. rosea* wild type and NRPS deletion strains

UHPLC-MS analysis of 2-week-old culture filtrates indicated that the *C. rosea* WT strain contained the compound 10-hydroxy-8-decenoic acid, which has previously been reported to have nematicidal activity (Soman *et al.*, 2001; Anke *et al.*, 1996). However, nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy failed to confirm the structure.

UHPLC-MS analysis of culture filtrates from *C. rosea* WT and NRPS deletion strains did not detect the production of any known nematicidal dioxopiperazines (i.e., gliocladin A–E, verticillin A, 11-deoxyverticillin A, Sch52900 or Sch52901) (Dong *et al.*, 2005) (papers III and IV). The failure to detect these molecules or metabolites was perhaps because of differences in growth conditions (e.g., PDB versus wheat kernels in the Dong et al. (2005) study) or differences between strains. Another possible explanation might be that the concentration of the metabolite was too low for detection in the studied cultures. Moreover, PDB might not be an ideal medium for *C. rosea* cultures to produce the NRPS metabolite.

4.7.4 Deletion of *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* genes reduces *C. rosea* biocontrol efficacy against fusarium foot rot disease

C. rosea nps1 deletion strains showed a diminished ability to inhibit fusarium foot rot disease caused by *F. graminearum* on wheat seedlings compared with WT (paper III, Fig. 10). Moreover, *nps4* and *nps5* deletion strains also showed significantly reduced biocontrol efficacy compared with WT (paper IV). Previously, the reduced growth rate of *C. rosea* deletion strains of the *zhd101* (*Zearalenone lactonohydrolase*) gene contributed to a reduction in biocontrol potential (Kosawang *et al.*, 2014). However, the NRPS deletion strains in the current work showed a higher growth rate on PDA plates compared with the WT; it is therefore likely that the reduced biocontrol efficacy is because of a failure to produce metabolites that carry the fungal-growth-inhibiting effect. Fatema *et al.* (2018) reported similar findings that deletion strains of the polyketide synthase gene *pks29* in *C. rosea* strain IK726 lessened the biocontrol efficiency of *C. rosea* against *F. graminearum*, which resulted in enhanced disease symptoms in barley.



Figure 10. In planta biocontrol efficacy of *Clonostachys rosea* wild type (WT) and $\Delta nps1$ strains against *Fusarium graminearum* foot rot disease on wheat. Wheat seeds were treated with *C. rosea* conidia (either WT or $\Delta nps1$ strains) and grown in moist sand together with an *F. graminearum* agar plug. Error bars denote the standard deviation based on five biological replicates. Each replicate contained the mean of 12 to 15 plants. Different letters indicate a statistically significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) as determined by Fisher's least significant difference test. Figure from Iqbal *et al.* (2019) and reproduced with the permission of the publisher (paper III).

4.7.5 Deletion of *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* genes reduces *C. rosea* biocontrol efficacy against nematode root disease

Significantly higher numbers of nematodes were recovered from soil and wheat roots after eight weeks when soil was inoculated with $\Delta nps1$ strains of C. rosea compared with WT. This indicates that *nps1* deletion significantly reduced the biocontrol potential of C. rosea to control plant-parasitic nematodes in soil as well as in roots of wheat, which suggests that NPS1 is a biocontrol factor against nematodes (paper III, Fig. 11A and B). Likewise, C. rosea $\Delta nps4$ and $\Delta nps5$ strains also showed reduced biocontrol ability against plant-parasitic nematodes compared with WT (paper IV). Previous studies have reported that C. rosea epipolysulfanyldioxopiperazine produces numerous compounds with nematicidal activity under in vitro conditions (Zou et al., 2010a; Zou et al., 2010b; Li et al., 2006; Dong et al., 2005) and it is likely that C. rosea produces similar compounds when inoculated in soil.



Figure 11. Effect of *Clonostachys rosea* wild type (WT) and $\Delta nps1$ strains on nematode populations extracted from soil (A) and wheat roots (B) in pots planted with wheat. (A) Impact of inoculating soil with *C. rosea* WT or $\Delta nps1$ strains on nematode populations, including plant-parasitic nematode genera (i.e., *Boleodorus, Helicotylenchus, Heterodera* J2, *Merlinus, Pratylenchus, Paratylenchus* and *Rotylenchus*) and other trophic groups (i.e., bacterivorous, fungivorous and omnivorous nematodes). (B) Two genera of plant-parasitic nematodes, i.e., *Pratylenchus* spp. and *Heterodera* J2, were recovered from roots. Soil that was not inoculated with *C. rosea* acted as the control. Error bars represent the standard deviation based on eight biological replicates. Different letters indicate statistically significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) between treatments based on the Tukey-Kramer test. Figure from Iqbal *et al.* (2019) and reproduced with permission of the publisher (paper III).

5 Summary

This study aimed to investigate whether the fungus *C. rosea* strain IK726 is able to control plant-parasitic nematodes and, if so, to determine which of the possible mechanisms are used by this fungus to control plant-parasitic nematodes.

The main conclusion from this study are as follows:

- 1. The application of naturally infested soil with *C. rosea* decreases the population of plant-parasitic nematodes and is positively correlated with improved growth of carrots and wheat (paper I).
- 2. The action of *C. rosea* shows a certain level of specificity towards plantparasitic nematodes compared with non-parasitic groups given that *in vitro* and *in planta* assays revealed a higher mortality rate for plantparasitic nematodes (paper I).
- 3. Antibiosis through secreted metabolites or enzymes contributes to the antagonistic effect against nematodes (papers I, III and IV).
- 4. Serine protease subfamilies S1A, S8A, S9X and S33 evolved non-randomly in *C. rosea* (paper II).
- 5. The increased gene copy number of serine protease subfamilies S8A, S9X and S33 in *C. rosea* and other related mycoparasitic fungi from the same order indicates the involvement of serine proteases in biotic interactions (paper II).
- 6. Induction of the serine protease gene *prs6* during the interaction of *C*. *rosea* with *F*. *graminearum* suggests the involvement of PRS6 in mycoparasitism, perhaps by releasing oligopeptide fragments as part of a sensing mechanism (paper II).
- 7. Intrinsic variation exists among *C. rosea* strains in terms of antagonism and biocontrol of plant-parasitic nematodes (paper IV).

- 8. Non-ribosomal peptide synthetase *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* gene products influence growth and conidiation in *C. rosea* (papers III and IV).
- 9. Deletion strains of *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* displayed attenuated antagonism against nematodes, which indicates that NRPS-encoding genes play an important role in antagonism against nematodes (papers III and IV).
- 10. *In planta* nematode root disease assays revealed that *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* genes in *C. rosea* are required for efficient biocontrol of plantparasitic nematodes in soil as well as in roots to protect plants and thereby improve plant growth (papers III and IV).
- 11. *In planta* fusarium foot rot assays on wheat showed that *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* genes are important in *C. rosea* for efficient biocontrol of fusarium foot rot disease on wheat caused by *F. graminearum* (papers III and IV).

6 Future perspectives

Biological control of plant-parasitic nematodes by the fungus *C. rosea* and possible interaction mechanisms were investigated in this study. Previous knowledge about the biocontrol of plant-parasitic nematodes using *C. rosea* was limited although *in vitro* antagonism against nematodes had been reported. This study showed that *C. rosea* can control plant-parasitic nematodes and elucidated possible mechanisms used by this fungus. However, the following aspects need further investigation.

In planta assays and soil inoculation of *C. rosea* have negative impacts on plant-parasitic nematode genera and reduced these populations considerably more than populations of other trophic groups (i.e., bacterivorous, fungivorous and omnivorous nematodes). This is further supported by observations of the effect of *C. rosea* culture filtrates on nematode populations given that plant-parasitic nematodes were more negatively affected by secreted metabolites or enzymes than non-parasitic nematodes. Thus, it would be valuable to investigate this area further by studying the cuticle composition of different groups of nematodes or the biology of nematode groups in more depth to further understand this interesting finding.

The application of *C. rosea* to soil significantly reduced the number of plantparasitic nematodes and positively increased the shoot length or shoot weight of carrots and wheat. It would be interesting to investigate whether plant growth improved because *C. rosea* induced resistance or if this effect was directly related to a lower number of plant-parasitic nematodes.

The most likely mechanism involved in the control of plant-parasitic nematodes by *C. rosea* is antibiosis through the secretion of metabolites or enzymes. However, the current work did not succeed in identifying compounds secreted by *C. rosea*. Identifying secreted compounds or enzymes with nematicidal properties that antagonize nematodes would be an exciting aspect to explore further.

In the current study, the induction of eighteen serine protease genes was tested during growth on protein compounds, including collagen, because collagen is a major constituent of nematode cuticle. However, unexpectedly none of the investigated serine protease genes were induced during growth on collagen, indicating that additional factors other than the presence of collagen in the nematode cuticle contribute to the induction of serine protease expression. Further investigations are needed to uncover these other factors and to investigate all the genes in the serine protease gene family to identify candidate genes that contribute to the antagonism of plant-parasitic nematodes.

The *C. rosea* genome contains seventeen non-ribosomal peptide synthetase genes (*nps*). The generation of gene deletion strains of three NRPS genes (*nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5*) revealed that NRPS genes play an important role during *in vitro* antagonism and biocontrol of fusarium foot rot and root diseases caused by nematodes. However, to obtain a more comprehensive view of the role of NRPSs, the other NRPS genes in *C. rosea* need to be explored further by performing functional studies.

The results obtained from the current study showed that *C. rosea* is able to control plant-parasitic nematodes during *in vitro* and *in planta* assays under controlled conditions. However, *C. rosea* biocontrol efficacy against nematodes now needs to be evaluated under field conditions.

References

- Abad, P., Gouzy, J., Aury, J.-M., Castagnone-Sereno, P., Danchin, E.G., Deleury, E., Perfus-Barbeoch, L., Anthouard, V., Artiguenave, F. & Blok, V.C. (2008). Genome sequence of the metazoan plant-parasitic nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*. *Nature Biotechnology*, 26(8), pp. 909-915.
- Abascal, F., Zardoya, R. & Posada, D. (2005). ProtTest: selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. *Bioinformatics*, 21(9), pp. 2104-2105.
- Agrawal, Y., Khatri, I., Subramanian, S. & Shenoy, B.D. (2015). Genome sequence, comparative analysis, and evolutionary insights into chitinases of entomopathogenic fungus *Hirsutella thompsonii*. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 7(3), pp. 916-930.
- Ahren, D., Tholander, M., Fekete, C., Rajashekar, B., Friman, E., Johansson, T. & Tunlid, A. (2005). Comparison of gene expression in trap cells and vegetative hyphae of the nematophagous fungus *Monacrosporium haptotylum. Microbiology*, 151(3), pp. 789-803.
- Altschul, S.F., Madden, T.L., Schäffer, A.A., Zhang, J., Zhang, Z., Miller, W. & Lipman, D.J. (1997). Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 25(17), pp. 3389-3402.
- Anke, H., Morales, P. & Sterner, O. (1996). Assays of the biological activities of two fatty acid derivatives formed in the edible mushrooms *Cantharellus cibarius* and C-tubaeformis as a response to injury. *Planta Medica*, 62(2), pp. 181-183.
- Atkins, S.D., Clark, I.M., Pande, S., Hirsch, P.R. & Kerry, B.R. (2005). The use of real-time PCR and species-specific primers for the identification and monitoring of *Paecilomyces lilacinus*. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 51(2), pp. 257-264.
- Baermann, G. (1917). Eine einfache methode zur auffindung von Ancylostomum (Nematoden) larven in erdproben. Geneeskunding Tijdschr Nederlandsch Indie, 57, pp. 131-137.
- Barker, K.R. & Koenning, S.R. (1998). Developing sustainable systems for nematode management. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 36(1), pp. 165-205.
- Beketov, M.A., Kefford, B.J., Schäfer, R.B. & Liess, M. (2013). Pesticides reduce regional biodiversity of stream invertebrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(27), pp. 11039-11043.
- Blaxter, M.L. (2003). Nematoda: genes, genomes and the evolution of parasitism. Advances in Parasitology, 54, pp. 101-195.
- Bonfil, D.J., Dolgin, B., Mufradi, I. & Asido, S. (2004). Bioassay to forecast cereal cyst nematode damage to wheat in fields. *Precision Agriculture*, 5(4), pp. 329-344.
- Broberg, M., Ihrmark, K., Dubey, M., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2018). Out in the cold: identification of genomic regions associated with cold tolerance in the biocontrol fungus *Clonostachys rosea* through genome-wide association mapping. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9, 2844.
- Brown, C., Mojtahedi, H., James, S., Novy, R. & Love, S. (2006). Development and evaluation of potato breeding lines with introgressed resistance to Columbia root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne chitwoodi*). *American Journal of Potato Research*, 83(1), pp. 1-8.
- Bushley, K.E. & Turgeon, B.G. (2010). Phylogenomics reveals subfamilies of fungal nonribosomal peptide synthetases and their evolutionary relationships. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 10, 26.
- Calvo, A.M., Wilson, R.A., Bok, J.W. & Keller, N.P. (2002). Relationship between secondary metabolism and fungal development. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 66(3), pp. 447-459.
- Cannayane, I. & Sivakumar, C. (2001). Nematode egg-parasitic fungus I: Paecilomyces lilacinus–A review. Agricultural Reviews, 22(2), pp. 79-86.

- Castillo, P. & Vovlas, N. (2007). *Pratylenchus* (Nematoda: Pratylenchidae): diagnosis, biology, pathogenicity and management. In: Hunt, D. J. & Perry, R.N. (eds) Nematology monographs and perspectives (Ed. 6). Leiden, Netherlands: Brill.
- Cayrol, J.-C., Djian, C. & Pijarowski, L. (1989). Study of the nematicidal properties of the culture filtrate of the nematophagous fungus *Paecilomyces lilacinus*. *Revue de Nématologie*, 12(4), pp. 331-336.
- Chen, L.-L., Liu, L.-J., Shi, M., Song, X.-Y., Zheng, C.-Y., Chen, X.-L. & Zhang, Y.-Z. (2009). Characterization and gene cloning of a novel serine protease with nematicidal activity from *Trichoderma pseudokoningii* SMF2. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 299(2), pp. 135-142.
- Chen, W., Sharma, H.C. & Muehlbauer, F.J. (2011). *Compendium of chickpea and lentil diseases and pests*: American Phytopathological Society.
- Chitwood, D.J. & Perry, R.N. (2009). Reproduction, physiology and biochemistry. In: Perry, R.N. Moens, M. & Starr, J. (eds) *Root-knot nematodes*. Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 182-200.
- Coleman, J.J., Rounsley, S.D., Rodriguez-Carres, M., Kuo, A., Wasmann, C.C., Grimwood, J., Schmutz, J., Taga, M., White, G.J. & Zhou, S. (2009). The genome of *Nectria haematococca*: contribution of supernumerary chromosomes to gene expansion. *PLOS Genetics*, 5(8), e1000618.
- Conti, E., Stachelhaus, T., Marahiel, M.A. & Brick, P. (1997). Structural basis for the activation of phenylalanine in the non-ribosomal biosynthesis of gramicidin S. *The EMBO Journal*, 16(14), pp. 4174-4183.
- Cuomo, C.A., Güldener, U., Xu, J.-R., Trail, F., Turgeon, B.G., Di Pietro, A., Walton, J.D., Ma, L.-J., Baker, S.E. & Rep, M. (2007). The *Fusarium graminearum* genome reveals a link between localized polymorphism and pathogen specialization. *Science*, 317(5843), pp. 1400-1402.
- Curtis, R.H., Robinson, A.F. & Perry, R.N. (2009). Hatch and host location. In: Perry, R.N. Moens, M. & Starr, J. (eds) *Root-knot nematodes*. Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 139-162.
- De Ley, P. & Blaxter, M. (2002). Systematic position and phylogeny. In: Lee, D.L. (ed) *The biology of nematodes*. London: Taylor & Francis, pp.1-30.
- Decraemer, W. & Geraert, E. (2013). Ectoparasitic nematodes. In: Perry, R.N & Moens, M. (eds) Plant Nematology (Ed. 2). Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 179-216.
- Decraemer, W. & Hunt, D.J. (2013). Structure and classification. In: Perry, R.N & Moens, M. (eds) *Plant Nematology* (Ed. 2). Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 3-39.
- Donatti, A.C., Furlaneto-Maia, L., Fungaro, M.H.P. & Furlaneto, M.C. (2008). Production and regulation of cuticle-degrading proteases from *Beauveria bassiana* in the presence of *Rhammatocerus schistocercoides* cuticle. *Current Microbiology*, 56(3), pp. 256-260.
- Dong, J.-Y., He, H.-P., Shen, Y.-M. & Zhang, K.-Q. (2005). Nematicidal epipolysulfanyldioxopiperazines from *Gliocladium roseum*. Journal of Natural Products, 68(10), pp. 1510-1513.
- Dubey, M., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2016). The ABC transporter ABCG29 is involved in H₂O₂ tolerance and biocontrol traits in the fungus *Clonostachys rosea*. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics*, 291(2), pp. 677-686.
- Dubey, M.K., Broberg, A., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2013). Role of the methylcitrate cycle in growth, antagonism and induction of systemic defence responses in the fungal biocontrol agent *Trichoderma atroviride*. *Microbiology*, 159(12), pp. 2492-2500.
- Dubey, M.K., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2014). An ATP-binding cassette pleiotropic drug transporter protein is required for xenobiotic tolerance and antagonism in the fungal biocontrol agent *Clonostachys rosea*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 27(7), pp. 725-732.
- Dubey, M.K., Ubhayasekera, W., Sandgren, M., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2012). Disruption of the Eng18B ENGase gene in the fungal biocontrol agent *Trichoderma atroviride* affects growth, conidiation and antagonistic ability. *PLOS One*, 7(5), e36152.
- Duncan, L. & Moens, M. (2013). Migratory endoparasitic nematodes. In: Perry, R.N & Moens, M. (eds) *Plant Nematology* (Ed. 2). Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 144-178.
- Fan, H., Liu, Z., Zhang, R., Wang, N., Dou, K., Mijiti, G., Diao, G. & Wang, Z. (2014). Functional analysis of a subtilisin-like serine protease gene from biocontrol fungus *Trichoderma harzianum. Journal of Microbiology*, 52(2), pp. 129-138.

- Fatema, U., Broberg, A., Jensen, D.F., Karlsson, M. & Dubey, M. (2018). Functional analysis of polyketide synthase genes in the biocontrol fungus *Clonostachys rosea*. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 15009.
- Finking, R. & Marahiel, M.A. (2004). Biosynthesis of nonribosomal peptides. Annual Review of Microbiology, 58, pp. 453-488.
- Flores, A., Chet, I. & Herrera-Estrella, A. (1997). Improved biocontrol activity of *Trichoderma* harzianum by over-expression of the proteinase-encoding gene prb1. Current Genetics, 31(1), pp. 30-37.
- Galagan, J.E., Calvo, S.E., Borkovich, K.A., Selker, E.U., Read, N.D., Jaffe, D., FitzHugh, W., Ma, L.-J., Smirnov, S. & Purcell, S. (2003). The genome sequence of the filamentous fungus *Neurospora crassa. Nature*, 422(6934), pp. 859-868.
- Gan, Z., Yang, J., Tao, N., Yu, Z. & Zhang, K.-Q. (2007). Cloning and expression analysis of a chitinase gene Crchi1 from the mycoparasitic fungus Clonostachys rosea (syn. Gliocladium roseum). The Journal of Microbiology, 45(5), pp. 422-430.
- Gao, Q., Jin, K., Ying, S.-H., Zhang, Y., Xiao, G., Shang, Y., Duan, Z., Hu, X., Xie, X.-Q. & Zhou, G. (2011). Genome sequencing and comparative transcriptomics of the model entomopathogenic fungi *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *M. acridum. PLOS Genetics*, 7(1), e1001264.
- Gardiner, D.M. & Howlett, B.J. (2005). Bioinformatic and expression analysis of the putative gliotoxin biosynthetic gene cluster of Aspergillus funigatus. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 248(2), pp. 241-248.
- Gaur, H. & Perry, R. (1991). The role of the moulted cuticles in the desiccation survival of adults of Rotylenchulus reniformis. Revue de Nématologie, 14(4), pp. 491-496.
- Gheysen, G., De Meutter, J., Tytgat, T. & Coomans, A. (2000). Sedentary endoparasitic nematodes as a model for other plant parasitic nematodes. *Nematology*, 2(1), pp. 113-121.
- Gill, M.S., Olsen, A., Sampayo, J.N. & Lithgow, G.J. (2003). An automated high-throughput assay for survival of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 35(6), pp. 558-565.
- Golinowski, W., Sobczak, M., Kurek, W. & Grymaszewska, G. (1997). The structure of syncytia. In: Cellular and molecular aspects of plant-nematode interactions. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer, pp. 80-97.
- Grünewald, J. & Marahiel, M.A. (2006). Chemoenzymatic and template-directed synthesis of bioactive macrocyclic peptides. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 70(1), pp. 121-146.
- Hallmann, J., Frankenberg, A., Paffrath, A. & Schmidt, H. (2007). Occurrence and importance of plantparasitic nematodes in organic farming in Germany. *Nematology*, 9(6), pp. 869-879.
- Hallmann, J. & Sikora, R. (1996). Toxicity of fungal endophyte secondary metabolites to plant parasitic nematodes and soil-borne plant pathogenic fungi. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 102(2), pp. 155-162.
- Han, M.V., Thomas, G.W., Lugo-Martinez, J. & Hahn, M.W. (2013). Estimating gene gain and loss rates in the presence of error in genome assembly and annotation using CAFE 3. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30(8), pp. 1987-1997.
- Hay, F., Walker, G., Davison, E., McKay, A., Pattison, T., Cobon, J., Stanton, J., Keating, D., Nambier, L. & Nobbs, J. (2004). *Improved control of nematodes in carrot production*.Sydney, Australia:Hortculture Australia Ltd. Project number:VG99020.
- Hofmann, J. & Grundler, F. (2007). How do nematodes get their sweets? Solute supply to sedentary plant-parasitic nematodes. *Nematology*, 9(4), pp. 451-458.
- Holterman, M., van der Wurff, A., van den Elsen, S., van Megen, H., Bongers, T., Holovachov, O., Bakker, J. & Helder, J. (2006). Phylum-wide analysis of SSU rDNA reveals deep phylogenetic relationships among nematodes and accelerated evolution toward crown clades. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 23(9), pp. 1792-1800.
- Hu, X., Xiao, G., Zheng, P., Shang, Y., Su, Y., Zhang, X., Liu, X., Zhan, S., Leger, R.J.S. & Wang, C. (2014). Trajectory and genomic determinants of fungal-pathogen speciation and host adaptation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(47), pp. 16796-16801.
- Hu, X., Zhang, Y., Xiao, G., Zheng, P., Xia, Y., Zhang, X., St Leger, R.J., Liu, X. & Wang, C. (2013). Genome survey uncovers the secrets of sex and lifestyle in caterpillar fungus. *Chinese Science Bulletin*, 58(23), pp. 2846-2854.
- Hue, A., Voldeng, H., Savard, M., Fedak, G., Tian, X. & Hsiang, T. (2009). Biological control of fusarium head blight of wheat with *Clonostachys rosea* strain ACM941. *Canadian Journal* of *Plant Pathology*, 31(2), pp. 169-179.

- Iqbal, M., Dubey, M., Broberg, A., Viketoft, M., Funck Jensen, D. & Karlsson, M. (2019). Deletion of the non-ribosomal peptide synthetase gene *nps1* in the fungus *Clonostachys rosea* attenuates antagonism and biocontrol of plant pathogenic *Fusarium* and nematodes. *Phytopathology*, 109(10), pp. 1698-1709.
- Iqbal, M., Dubey, M., Gudmundsson, M., Viketoft, M., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2018b). Comparative evolutionary histories of fungal proteases reveal gene gains in the mycoparasitic and nematode-parasitic fungus *Clonostachys rosea*. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 18, 171.
- Iqbal, M., Dubey, M., McEwan, K., Menzel, U., Franko, M.A., Viketoft, M., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2018a). Evaluation of *Clonostachys rosea* for control of plant-parasitic nematodes in soil and in roots of carrot and wheat. *Phytopathology*, 108(1), pp. 52-59.
- James, T.Y., Kauff, F., Schoch, C.L., Matheny, P.B., Hofstetter, V., Cox, C.J., Celio, G., Gueidan, C., Fraker, E. & Miadlikowska, J. (2006). Reconstructing the early evolution of fungi using a six-gene phylogeny. *Nature*, 443(7113), pp. 818-822.
- Jensen, B., Knudsen, I.M. & Jensen, D.F. (2000). Biological seed treatment of cereals with fresh and long-term stored formulations of *Clonostachys rosea*: biocontrol efficacy against *Fusarium culmorum. European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 106(3), pp. 233-242.
- Jensen, B., Knudsen, I.M. & Jensen, D.F. (2002). Survival of conidia of *Clonostachys rosea* on stored barley seeds and their biocontrol efficacy against seed-borne *Bipolaris sorokiniana*. *Biocontrol Science and Technology*, 12(4), pp. 427-441.
- Jensen, B., Knudsen, I.M., Madsen, M. & Jensen, D.F. (2004). Biopriming of infected carrot seed with an antagonist, *Clonostachys rosea*, selected for control of seedborne *Alternaria* spp. *Phytopathology*, 94(6), pp. 551-560.
- Jones, J.T., Haegeman, A., Danchin, E.G., Gaur, H.S., Helder, J., Jones, M.G., Kikuchi, T., Manzanilla-López, R., Palomares-Rius, J.E. & Wesemael, W.M. (2013). Top 10 plant-parasitic nematodes in molecular plant pathology. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 14(9), pp. 946-961.
- Jones, L.M., Koehler, A.K., Trnka, M., Balek, J., Challinor, A.J., Atkinson, H.J. & Urwin, P.E. (2017). Climate change is predicted to alter the current pest status of *Globodera pallida* and *G. rostochiensis* in the United Kingdom. *Global Change Biology*, 23(11), pp. 4497-4507.
- Kamou, N.N., Dubey, M., Tzelepis, G., Menexes, G., Papadakis, E.N., Karlsson, M., Lagopodi, A.L. & Jensen, D.F. (2016). Investigating the compatibility of the biocontrol agent *Clonostachys rosea* IK726 with prodigiosin-producing *Serratia rubidaea* S55 and phenazine-producing *Pseudomonas chlororaphis* ToZa7. Archives of Microbiology, 198(4), pp. 369-377.
- Karimi, M., De Meyer, B. & Hilson, P. (2005). Modular cloning in plant cells. *Trends in Plant Science*, 10(3), pp. 103-105.
- Karlsson, M., Durling, M.B., Choi, J., Kosawang, C., Lackner, G., Tzelepis, G.D., Nygren, K., Dubey, M.K., Kamou, N. & Levasseur, A. (2015). Insights on the evolution of mycoparasitism from the genome of *Clonostachys rosea*. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 7(2), pp. 465-480.
- Karssen, G., Wesemael, W. & Moens, M. (2013). Root-knot nematodes. In: Perry, R.N & Moens, M. (eds) *Plant Nematology* (Ed. 2). Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 73-108.
- Katoh, K., Misawa, K., Kuma, K.i. & Miyata, T. (2002). MAFFT: a novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30(14), pp. 3059-3066.
- Keating, T.A., Marshall, C.G. & Walsh, C.T. (2000). Reconstitution and characterization of the Vibrio cholerae vibriobactin synthetase from VibB, VibE, VibF, and VibH. *Biochemistry*, 39(50), pp. 15522-15530.
- Keating, T.A., Marshall, C.G., Walsh, C.T. & Keating, A.E. (2002). The structure of VibH represents nonribosomal peptide synthetase condensation, cyclization and epimerization domains. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 9(7), pp. 522.526.
- Kerry, B. & Evans, K. (1996). New strategies for the management of plant parasitic nematodes. In: Hall, R. (ed) *Principles and practices of managing soil-borne plant pathogens*, American Phytopathological Society. pp. 134-152.
- Khan, A., Williams, K.L. & Nevalainen, H.K. (2006). Control of plant-parasitic nematodes by *Paecilomyces lilacinus* and *Monacrosporium lysipagum* in pot trials. *Biocontrol*, 51(5), pp. 643-658.
- Kim, D., Chun, J.-Y. & Lee, K.-Y. (2016). Morphometric and molecular characterization of populations of *Pratylenchus kumamotoensis* and *P. pseudocoffeae* (Nematoda, Pratylenchidae) newly recorded in Korea. *ZooKeys*(600), pp. 1-5.

- Knudsen, I.M., Hockenhull, J. & Jensen, D. (1995). Biocontrol of seedling diseases of barley and wheat caused by *Fusarium culmorum* and *Bipolaris sorokiniana*: effects of selected fungal antagonists on growth and yield components. *Plant Pathology*, 44(3), pp. 467-477.
- Koenning, S., Overstreet, C., Noling, J., Donald, P., Becker, J. & Fortnum, B. (1999). Survey of crop losses in response to phytoparasitic nematodes in the United States for 1994. *Journal of Nematology*, 31(4S), pp. 587-618.
- Kosawang, C., Karlsson, M., Vélëz, H., Rasmussen, P.H., Collinge, D.B., Jensen, B. & Jensen, D.F. (2014). Zearalenone detoxification by zearalenone hydrolase is important for the antagonistic ability of *Clonostachys rosea* against mycotoxigenic *Fusarium graminearum*. *Fungal Biology*, 118(4), pp. 364-373.
- Kubicek, C.P., Herrera-Estrella, A., Seidl-Seiboth, V., Martinez, D.A., Druzhinina, I.S., Thon, M., Zeilinger, S., Casas-Flores, S., Horwitz, B.A. & Mukherjee, P.K. (2011). Comparative genome sequence analysis underscores mycoparasitism as the ancestral life style of *Trichoderma. Genome Biology*, 12, R40.
- Lai, Y., Liu, K., Zhang, X., Zhang, X., Li, K., Wang, N., Shu, C., Wu, Y., Wang, C. & Bushley, K.E. (2014). Comparative genomics and transcriptomics analyses reveal divergent lifestyle features of nematode endoparasitic fungus *Hirsutella minnesotensis*. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 6(11), pp. 3077-3093.
- Larkin, M.A., Blackshields, G., Brown, N., Chenna, R., McGettigan, P.A., McWilliam, H., Valentin, F., Wallace, I.M., Wilm, A. & Lopez, R. (2007). Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics*, 23(21), pp. 2947-2948.
- Larriba, E., Jaime, M.D., Carbonell-Caballero, J., Conesa, A., Dopazo, J., Nislow, C., Martín-Nieto, J. & Lopez-Llorca, L.V. (2014). Sequencing and functional analysis of the genome of a nematode egg-parasitic fungus, *Pochonia chlamydosporia*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 65, pp. 69-80.
- Lasserre, F., Rivoal, R. & Cook, R. (1994). Interactions between *Heterodera avenae* and *Pratylenchus neglectus* on wheat. *Journal of Nematology*, 26(3), pp. 336-344.
- Le, S.Q. & Gascuel, O. (2008). An improved general amino acid replacement matrix. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 25(7), pp. 1307-1320.
- Letunic, I. & Bork, P. (2018). 20 years of the SMART protein domain annotation resource. Nucleic Acids Research, 46(D1), pp. D493-D496.
- Li, J., Yang, J., Huang, X. & Zhang, K.-Q. (2006). Purification and characterization of an extracellular serine protease from *Clonostachys rosea* and its potential as a pathogenic factor. *Process Biochemistry*, 41(4), pp. 925-929.
- Li, J., Yu, L., Yang, J., Dong, L., Tian, B., Yu, Z., Liang, L., Zhang, Y., Wang, X. & Zhang, K. (2010). New insights into the evolution of subtilisin-like serine protease genes in Pezizomycotina. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 10, 68.
- Liu, K., Zhang, W., Lai, Y., Xiang, M., Wang, X., Zhang, X. & Liu, X. (2014). Drechslerella stenobrocha genome illustrates the mechanism of constricting rings and the origin of nematode predation in fungi. BMC Genomics, 15, 114.
- Livak, K.J. & Schmittgen, T.D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method. *Methods*, 25(4), pp. 402-408.
- Lysøe, E., Dees, M.W. & Brurberg, M.B. (2017). A three-way transcriptomic interaction study of a biocontrol agent (*Clonostachys rosea*), a fungal pathogen (*Helminthosporium solani*), and a potato host (*Solanum tuberosum*). *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 30(8), pp. 646-655.
- Mamarabadi, M., Jensen, B., Jensen, D.F. & Lübeck, M. (2008). Real-time RT-PCR expression analysis of chitinase and endoglucanase genes in the three-way interaction between the biocontrol strain *Clonostachys rosea* IK726, *Botrytis cinerea* and strawberry. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 285(1), pp. 101-110.
- Marchler-Bauer, A., Bo, Y., Han, L., He, J., Lanczycki, C.J., Lu, S., Chitsaz, F., Derbyshire, M.K., Geer, R.C. & Gonzales, N.R. (2017). CDD/SPARCLE: functional classification of proteins via subfamily domain architectures. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 45(D1), pp. D200-D203.
- Martinez-Beringola, M., Salto, T., Vázquez, G., Larena, I., Melgarejo, P. & De Cal, A. (2013). *Penicillium oxalicum* reduces the number of cysts and juveniles of potato cyst nematodes. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 115(1), pp. 199-206.
- Martinez, D., Berka, R.M., Henrissat, B., Saloheimo, M., Arvas, M., Baker, S.E., Chapman, J., Chertkov, O., Coutinho, P.M. & Cullen, D. (2008). Genome sequencing and analysis of the

biomass-degrading fungus *Trichoderma reesei* (syn. *Hypocrea jecorina*). *Nature Biotechnology*, 26(5), pp. 553-560.

- May, J.J., Kessler, N., Marahiel, M.A. & Stubbs, M.T. (2002). Crystal structure of DhbE, an archetype for aryl acid activating domains of modular nonribosomal peptide synthetases. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(19), pp. 12120-12125.
- Meerupati, T., Andersson, K.-M., Friman, E., Kumar, D., Tunlid, A. & Ahren, D. (2013). Genomic mechanisms accounting for the adaptation to parasitism in nematode-trapping fungi. *PLOS Genetics*, 9(11), e1003909.
- Megen, H.V., Denelsen, S.V., Holterman, M., Karssen, G., Mooyman, P., Bongers, T., Holovachov, O., Baker, J. & Helder, J. (2009). A phylogenetic tree of nematodes based on about 1200 fulllength small subunit ribosomal DNA sequences. *Nematology*, 11(6), pp. 927-950.
- Minglian, Z., Minghe, M. & Keqin, Z. (2004). Characterization of a neutral serine protease and its fulllength cDNA from the nematode-trapping fungus *Arthrobotrys oligospora*. *Mycologia*, 96(1), pp. 16-22.
- Moens, M., Perry, R.N. & Starr, J.L. (2009). *Meloidogyne* species–a diverse group of novel and important plant parasites. In: Perry, R.N. Moens, M. & Starr, J. (eds) *Root-knot nematodes*. Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 483-499.
- Mootz, H.D., Schwarzer, D. & Marahiel, M.A. (2002). Ways of assembling complex natural products on modular nonribosomal peptide synthetases. *Chembiochem*, 3(6), pp. 490-504.
- Mouekouba, L.D.O., Zhang, L., Guan, X., Chen, X., Chen, H., Zhang, J., Zhang, J., Li, J., Yang, Y. & Wang, A. (2014). Analysis of *Clonostachys rosea*-induced resistance to tomato gray mold disease in tomato leaves. *PLOS One*, 9(7), e102690.
- Mukherjee, P.K., Buensanteai, N., Moran-Diez, M.E., Druzhinina, I.S. & Kenerley, C.M. (2012). Functional analysis of non-ribosomal peptide synthetases (NRPSs) in *Trichoderma virens* reveals a polyketide synthase (PKS)/NRPS hybrid enzyme involved in the induced systemic resistance response in maize. *Microbiology*, 158(1), pp. 155-165.
- Mukherjee, P.K., Hurley, J.F., Taylor, J.T., Puckhaber, L., Lehner, S., Druzhinina, I., Schumacher, R. & Kenerley, C.M. (2018). Ferricrocin, the intracellular siderophore of *Trichoderma virens*, is involved in growth, conidiation, gliotoxin biosynthesis and induction of systemic resistance in maize. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 505(2), pp. 606-611.
- Nicol, J., Elekçioğlu, I., Bolat, N. & Rivoal, R. (2007). The global importance of the cereal cyst nematode (*Heterodera* spp.) on wheat and international approaches to its control. *Communications in Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences*, 72(3), pp. 677-686.
- Nicol, J., Turner, S., Coyne, D., Den Nijs, L., Hockland, S. & Maafi, Z.T. (2011). Current nematode threats to world agriculture. In: Jones, J, Gheysen, G. & Fenoll, C. (eds). *Genomics and* molecular genetics of plant-nematode interactions Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer, pp. 21-43.
- Nirenberg, H. (1976). Untersuchungen uber die morpholoigische und biologische Differnzierung in der *Fusarium*-Sektion *Liseola*. *Mitt. Biol. Bundesanst. Land-u. Forstwirtsch*, 169, pp. 1-117.
- Nordbring-Hertz, B., Jansson, H.B. & Tunlid, A. (2006). Nematophagous fungi. Encyclopedia of life sciences. Chichester, UK: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.
- Norton, D.C. (1983). Maize nematode problems. Plant Disease, 67(3), pp. 253.
- Nygren, K., Dubey, M., Zapparata, A., Iqbal, M., Tzelepis, G.D., Durling, M.B., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2018). The mycoparasitic fungus *Clonostachys rosea* responds with both common and specific gene expression during interspecific interactions with fungal prey. *Evolutionary Applications*, 11(6), pp. 931-949.
- Perry, R.N. (2002). Hatching. In: Lee, D.L. (ed) *The Biology of Nematodes*. London, UK: Taylor and Francis, pp. 147-169.
- Pozo, M.J., Baek, J.-M., Garcia, J.M. & Kenerley, C.M. (2004). Functional analysis of *tvsp1*, a serine protease-encoding gene in the biocontrol agent *Trichoderma virens*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 41(3), pp. 336-348.
- Prasad, P., Varshney, D. & Adholeya, A. (2015). Whole genome annotation and comparative genomic analyses of bio-control fungus *Purpureocillium lilacinum. BMC Genomics*, 16, 1004.
- Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M.A., Bender, D., Maller, J., Sklar, P., De Bakker, P.I. & Daly, M.J. (2007). PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 81(3), pp. 559-575.

- Quandt, C.A., Di, Y., Elser, J., Jaiswal, P. & Spatafora, J.W. (2016). Differential expression of genes involved in host recognition, attachment, and degradation in the mycoparasite *Tolypocladium ophioglossoides*. *G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics*, 6(3), pp. 731-741.
- Ravnskov, S., Jensen, B., Knudsen, I.M., Bødker, L., Jensen, D.F., Karliński, L. & Larsen, J. (2006). Soil inoculation with the biocontrol agent *Clonostachys rosea* and the mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* results in mutual inhibition, plant growth promotion and alteration of soil microbial communities. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38(12), pp. 3453-3462.
- Rawlings, N.D., Barrett, A.J. & Finn, R. (2016). Twenty years of the MEROPS database of proteolytic enzymes, their substrates and inhibitors. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), pp. D343-D350.
- Reddy, P.P., Rao, M. & Nagesh, M. (1996a). Management of citrus nematode, *Tylenchulus semipenetrans*, by integration of *Trichoderma harzianum* with oil cakes. *Nematologia Mediterranea*, 24(2), pp. 265-267.
- Reddy, P.V., Lam, C.K. & Belanger, F.C. (1996b). Mutualistic fungal endophytes express a proteinase that is homologous to proteases suspected to be important in fungal pathogenicity. *Plant Physiology*, 111(4), pp. 1209-1218.
- Reiber, K., Reeves, E.P., Neville, C.M., Winkler, R., Gebhardt, P., Kavanagh, K. & Doyle, S. (2005). The expression of selected non-ribosomal peptide synthetases in *Aspergillus fumigatus* is controlled by the availability of free iron. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 248(1), pp. 83-91.
- Roberti, R., Veronesi, A., Cesari, A., Cascone, A., Di Berardino, I., Bertini, L. & Caruso, C. (2008). Induction of PR proteins and resistance by the biocontrol agent *Clonostachys rosea* in wheat plants infected with *Fusarium culmorum*. *Plant Science*, 175(3), pp. 339-347.
- Robinson, A., Inserra, R., Caswell-Chen, E., Vovlas, N. & Troccoli, A. (1997). *Rotylenchulus* species: identification, distribution, host ranges, and crop plant resistance. *Nematropica*, 27(2), pp. 127-180.
- Rodríguez, M.A., Cabrera, G., Gozzo, F., Eberlin, M. & Godeas, A. (2011). *Clonostachys rosea* BAFC3874 as a *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* antagonist: mechanisms involved and potential as a biocontrol agent. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 110(5), pp. 1177-1186.
- Saier Jr, M.H., Reddy, V.S., Tsu, B.V., Ahmed, M.S., Li, C. & Moreno-Hagelsieb, G. (2016). The transporter classification database (TCDB): recent advances. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), pp. D372-D379.
- Schroers, H.-J., Samuels, G.J., Seifert, K.A. & Gams, W. (1999). Classification of the mycoparasite *Gliocladium roseum* in *Clonostachys* as *C. rosea*, its relationship to *Bionectria ochroleuca*, and notes on other *Gliocladium*-like fungi. *Mycologia*, 91(2), pp. 365-385.
- Sharon, E., Bar-Eyal, M., Chet, I., Herrera-Estrella, A., Kleifeld, O. & Spiegel, Y. (2001). Biological control of the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne javanica* by *Trichoderma harzianum*. *Phytopathology*, 91(7), pp. 687-693.
- Sieber, S.A. & Marahiel, M.A. (2003). Learning from nature's drug factories: nonribosomal synthesis of macrocyclic peptides. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 185(24), pp. 7036-7043.
- Smith, C.A., Want, E.J., O'Maille, G., Abagyan, R. & Siuzdak, G. (2006). XCMS: Processing mass spectrometry data for metabolite profiling using nonlinear peak alignment, matching, and identification. *Analytical Chemistry*, 78(3), pp. 779-787.
- Soman, A.G., Gloer, J.B., Angawi, R.F., Wicklow, D.T. & Dowd, P.F. (2001). Vertilecanins: New phenopicolinic acid analogues from *Verticillium lecanii*. *Journal of Natural Products*, 64(2), pp. 189-192.
- Soriano, I.R., Prot, J.-C. & Matias, D.M. (2000). Expression of tolerance for *Meloidogyne graminicola* in rice cultivars as affected by soil type and flooding. *Journal of Nematology*, 32(3), pp. 309-317.
- Stachelhaus, T., Mootz, H.D. & Marahiel, M.A. (1999). The specificity-conferring code of adenylation domains in nonribosomal peptide synthetases. *Chemistry & Biology*, 6(8), pp. 493-505.
- Stamatakis, A., Hoover, P. & Rougemont, J. (2008). A rapid bootstrap algorithm for the RAxML web servers. Systematic Biology, 57(5), pp. 758-771.
- Steindorff, A.S., Ramada, M.H.S., Coelho, A.S.G., Miller, R.N.G., Pappas, G.J., Ulhoa, C.J. & Noronha, E.F. (2014). Identification of mycoparasitism-related genes against the phytopathogen *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* through transcriptome and expression profile analysis in *Trichoderma harzianum*. *BMC Genomics*, 15, 204.
- Stephens, M. (2016). False discovery rates: a new deal. Biostatistics, 18(2), pp. 275-294.
- Suarez, B., Rey, M., Castillo, P., Monte, E. & Llobell, A. (2004). Isolation and characterization of PRA1, a trypsin-like protease from the biocontrol agent *Trichoderma harzianum* CECT

2413 displaying nematicidal activity. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 65(1), pp. 46-55.

- Sun, Z.-B., Sun, M.-H. & Li, S.-D. (2015). Identification of mycoparasitism-related genes in Clonostachys rosea 67-1 active against Sclerotinia sclerotiorum. Scientific Reports, 5, 18169.
- Sung, G.-H., Hywel-Jones, N.L., Sung, J.-M., Luangsa-ard, J.J., Shrestha, B. & Spatafora, J.W. (2007). Phylogenetic classification of *Cordyceps* and the clavicipitaceous fungi. *Studies in Mycology*, 57, pp. 5-59.
- Sutton, J.C., Li, D.-W., Peng, G., Yu, H., Zhang, P. & Valdebenito-Sanhueza, R. (1997). Gliocladium roseum a versatile adversary of Botrytis cinerea in crops. Plant Disease, 81(4), pp. 316-328.
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A. & Kumar, S. (2013). MEGA6: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30(12), pp. 2725-2729.
- Tautenhahn, R., Boettcher, C. & Neumann, S. (2008). Highly sensitive feature detection for high resolution LC/MS. BMC Bioinformatics, 9, 504.
- Trudgill, D.L. & Blok, V.C. (2001). Apomictic, polyphagous root-knot nematodes: exceptionally successful and damaging biotrophic root pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 39(1), pp. 53-77.
- Turner, S. & Rowe, J. (2006). Cyst Nematodes. In: In: Perry, R.N & Moens, M. (eds) Plant Nematology. Wallingford, England: CAB International, pp. 93-122.
- Tzelepis, G., Dubey, M., Jensen, D.F. & Karlsson, M. (2015). Identifying glycoside hydrolase family 18 genes in the mycoparasitic fungal species *Clonostachys rosea*. *Microbiology*, 161(7), pp. 1407-1419.
- Utermark, J. & Karlovsky, P. (2008). Genetic transformation of filamentous fungi by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Nature Protocols Online, 83.
- Vanstone, V., Hollaway, G. & Stirling, G. (2008). Managing nematode pests in the southern and western regions of the Australian cereal industry: continuing progress in a challenging environment. *Australasian Plant Pathology*, 37(3), pp. 220-234.
- Vieira, P.M., Coelho, A.S.G., Steindorff, A.S., de Siqueira, S.J.L., do Nascimento Silva, R. & Ulhoa, C.J. (2013). Identification of differentially expressed genes from *Trichoderma harzianum* during growth on cell wall of *Fusarium solani* as a tool for biotechnological application. *BMC Genomics*, 14, 177.
- Viketoft, M., Palmborg, C., Sohlenius, B., Huss-Danell, K. & Bengtsson, J. (2005). Plant species effects on soil nematode communities in experimental grasslands. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 30(2), pp. 90-103.
- Wang, B., Liu, X., Wu, W., Liu, X. & Li, S. (2009). Purification, characterization, and gene cloning of an alkaline serine protease from a highly virulent strain of the nematode-endoparasitic fungus *Hirsutella rhossiliensis*. *Microbiological Research*, 164(6), pp. 665-673.
- Wang, K., Li, M. & Hakonarson, H. (2010). ANNOVAR: functional annotation of genetic variants from high-throughput sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(16), pp. e164.
- Wang, R., Yang, J., Lin, C., Zhang, Y. & Zhang, K. (2006). Purification and characterization of an extracellular serine protease from the nematode-trapping fungus *Dactylella shizishanna*. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 42(6), pp. 589-594.
- Weber, T., Baumgartner, R., Renner, C., Marahiel, M.A. & Holak, T.A. (2000). Solution structure of PCP, a prototype for the peptidyl carrier domains of modular peptide synthetases. *Structure*, 8(4), pp. 407-418.
- Windham, G.L., Windham, M.T. & Williams, W.P. (1989). Effects of *Trichoderma* spp. on maize growth and *Meloidogyne arenaria* reproduction. *Plant Disease*, 73, pp. 493-495.
- Xiao, G., Ying, S.-H., Zheng, P., Wang, Z.-L., Zhang, S., Xie, X.-Q., Shang, Y., Leger, R.J.S., Zhao, G.-P. & Wang, C. (2012). Genomic perspectives on the evolution of fungal entomopathogenicity in *Beauveria bassiana*. *Scientific Reports*, 2, 483.
- Xie, B.-B., Qin, Q.-L., Shi, M., Chen, L.-L., Shu, Y.-L., Luo, Y., Wang, X.-W., Rong, J.-C., Gong, Z.-T. & Li, D. (2014). Comparative genomics provide insights into evolution of *Trichoderma* nutrition style. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 6(2), pp. 379-390.
- Xu, Z., Zhao, Y.-Q., Yang, D.-J., Sun, H.-J., Zhang, C.-L. & Xie, Y.-P. (2015). Attractant and repellent effects of sweet potato root exudates on the potato rot nematode, *Ditylenchus destructor*. *Nematology*, 17, pp. 117-124.
- Yamashita, T. & Viglierchio, D. (1987). In vitro testing for nonfumigant nematicide resistance in Xiphinema index. Revue de Nématologie, 10(1), pp. 75-79.

- Yamashita, T.T., Viglierchio, D.R. & Schmitt, R. (1986). Responses of nematodes to nematicidal applications following extended exposures to subnematicidal stress. *Revue de Nématologie*, 9(1), pp. 49-60.
- Yang, J., Huang, X., Tian, B., Wang, M., Niu, Q. & Zhang, K. (2005). Isolation and characterization of a serine protease from the nematophagous fungus, *Lecanicillium psalliotae*, displaying nematicidal activity. *Biotechnology Letters*, 27(15), pp. 1123-1128.
- Yang, J., Wang, L., Ji, X., Feng, Y., Li, X., Zou, C., Xu, J., Ren, Y., Mi, Q. & Wu, J. (2011). Genomic and proteomic analyses of the fungus *Arthrobotrys oligospora* provide insights into nematode-trap formation. *PLOS Pathogens*, 7(9), e1002179.
- Zhang, L., Yang, J., Niu, Q., Zhao, X., Ye, F., Liang, L. & Zhang, K.-Q. (2008). Investigation on the infection mechanism of the fungus *Clonostachys rosea* against nematodes using the green fluorescent protein. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 78(6), pp. 983-990.
- Zhang, S.-s., Zhang, S.-l., Wang, H.-y. & Chen, Y.-f. (2006). Characteristics of sweet potato stem nematode in China. *Acta Phytopathologica Sinica*, 36, pp. 22-27.
- Zhao, M., Huang, J., Mo, M. & Zhang, K. (2005). A potential virulence factor involved in fungal pathogenicity: serine-like protease activity of nematophagous fungus *Clonostachys rosea*. *Fungal Divers*, 19, pp. 217-234.
- Zheng, P., Xia, Y., Xiao, G., Xiong, C., Hu, X., Zhang, S., Zheng, H., Huang, Y., Zhou, Y. & Wang, S. (2012). Genome sequence of the insect pathogenic fungus *Cordyceps militaris*, a valued traditional Chinese medicine. *Genome Biology*, 12(11), R116.
- Zou, C.G., Tao, N., Liu, W.J., Yang, J.K., Huang, X.W., Liu, X.Y., Tu, H.H., Gan, Z.W. & Zhang, K.Q. (2010a). Regulation of subtilisin-like protease *prC* expression by nematode cuticle in the nematophagous fungus *Clonostachys rosea*. *Environmental Microbiology*, 12(12), pp. 3243-3252.
- Zou, C.G., Tu, H.H., Liu, X.Y., Tao, N. & Zhang, K.Q. (2010b). PacC in the nematophagous fungus *Clonostachys rosea* controls virulence to nematodes. *Environmental Microbiology*, 12(7), pp. 1868-1877.

Popular science summary

Nematodes are present everywhere where life exists and are essentially water loving-animals. There are probably more than one million species in total, making them the most abundant animals on Earth. More than 25,000 nematode species are known, including plant-parasitic, bacterivorous, fungivorous and omnivorous nematodes. To date, 4100 species of plant-parasitic nematodes have been described. Diseases caused by these nematodes are estimated to result in the annual loss of 14.6% of crops produced globally, causing economic losses of approximately 157 billion US dollars a year.

To prevent these huge losses, chemical-based nematicides have been used to control these tiny animals. However, the indiscriminate use of these chemicals is now known to be associated with a range of issues, such as the accumulation of pesticide residues in soil and water, toxicity to livestock, potential negative impacts on biodiversity, the environment and human health, and the risk that the nematode population may develop resistance to nematicides. Consequently, chemical-based nematicides are banned in many countries and are not allowed in organic farming. To obtain high levels of agricultural productivity in the future, biological control of plant-parasitic nematodes using naturally occurring microbial antagonists represents a promising alternative to chemical-based nematicides. One such antagonist is the biocontrol fungus *Clonostachys rosea*, which is mainly mycoparasitic (i.e., it attacks and parasitizes other plant pathogenic fungi); however, *C. rosea* has also been reported to have negative impacts on plant-parasitic nematodes.

The main focus of the present study was to investigate the impact of applying *Clonostachys rosea* strain IK726 to an agricultural soil that was naturally infested with nematodes. The soil was mixed with *C. rosea* and afterwards planted with wheat and carrot under controlled conditions. At the end of the experiment, plants were harvested and nematode communities were extracted, counted, identified and grouped based on morphological characters. Nematode communities in treated and untreated soil with and without crops were compared to evaluate the impact of *C. rosea*. Plant-parasitic nematode populations extracted from soil and roots were 40–73% lower in soils treated with *C. rosea*

compared with untreated soil, and plant growth was correspondingly enhanced. Non-parasitic nematodes were unaffected by *C. rosea*-treated soil.

Another focus of this work was to try to determine how *C. rosea* antagonizes plant-parasitic nematodes. Direct parasitism of nematodes was not observed. However, nematodes were unable to grow in a medium in which the fungus had been grown, suggesting that *C. rosea* can produce substances that are harmful to nematodes, such as nematicidal compounds and enzymes such as proteases (which help to breakdown proteins), thereby creating hostile conditions for nematode survival. A genome-wide analysis of protease genes revealed that *C. rosea* contains more proteases than other studied fungi. Furthermore, a computational analysis of gene family evolution revealed that *C. rosea* has increased gene copy numbers of the serine protease family, suggesting that serine proteases may play an important role in biotic interactions.

A genome-wide association study of 53 strains of the biocontrol fungus *C. rosea* was performed against the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus penetrans* under *in vitro* conditions. An empirical Bayesian multiple hypothesis testing approach detected 279 single nucleotide polymorphism markers that were significantly associated with a nematode antagonism trait. The putative non-ribosomal peptide synthetase genes *nps4* and *nps5* were located in the identified genomic regions while *nps1* was selected for use in further investigations based on previously published reports. Deletion of the *nps1*, *nps4* and *nps5* genes revealed that NPS1, NPS4 and NPS5 play an important role in fungal growth, conidiation and antagonism against plant-parasitic nematodes. Furthermore, NPS1, NPS4 and NPS5 are important for biocontrol of fusarium root rot and nematode root diseases in wheat.

In summary, the results presented in this thesis show that *C. rosea* strain IK726 can decrease populations of plant-parasitic nematodes in naturally infested soil and, thus, improve the growth of plants. The main mechanism responsible for antagonizing plant-parasitic nematodes is likely to be antibiosis, i.e., the secretion metabolites or enzymes that are harmful to plant-parasitic nematodes. This antagonistic potential can be used to control plant-parasitic nematodes, which may help to reduce applications of chemicals to soils as part of an integrated pest management programme.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Nematoder finns överallt där liv existerar, men behöver vatten för sin överlevnad. Det finns antagligen mer än en miljon olika arter, vilket gör nematoder till det vanligaste djuret på jorden. Fler än 25000 arter är beskrivna, och inkluderar olika livsstilar såsom växtparasiter, bakterieätare, svampätare och allätare. Till dags dato har 4100 arter av växtparasitiska nematoder beskrivits. Växtsjukdomar orsakade av nematoder har beräknats att orsaka en global skördeförlust på 14.6% vilket motsvarar en ekonomisk förlust på 157 miljarder amerikanska dollar.

Kemiska växtskyddsmedel har använts för att minska skadorna från dessa djur. Storskalig användning av dessa kemikalier kan dock resultera i flera problem, såsom ansamling av dessa medel i mark och vatten, toxiska effekter på tamdjur, negativa effekter på biodiversitet, miljön och hälsoeffekter på människor, samt utveckling av resistens hos växtparasitiska nematoder. Därför har användningen av kemiska växtskyddsmedel mot nematoder förbjudits i många länder och användningen är inte heller tillåten inom ekologisk odling. Biologisk bekämpning av växtparasitiska nematoder med naturliga mikrobiella antagonister kan potentiellt användas som ett alternativ till kemiska växtskyddsmedel för att bibehålla en framtida hög produktion inom jordbruket. En sådan antagonist är svampen *Clonostachys rosea* som kan användas för biologisk bekämpning genom sin förmåga att parasitera andra svampar och växtparasitiska nematoder.

Ett mål med detta projekt var att undersöka hur *C. rosea* isolat IK726 påverkar nematodsamhället i jordbruksmark. Naturligt infekterad jord blandades med *C. rosea* och effekten på tillväxten av vete undersöktes under kontrollerade miljöbetingelser i en klimatkammare. Veteplantorna skördades i slutet av experimentet och nematodsamhället undersöktes, räknades och identifierades baserat på morfologi. Sammansättningen på nematodsamhället jämfördes mellan behandlingar med och utan *C. rosea*, samt med och utan växter. Genom att blanda in *C. rosea* i jorden så minskade antalet växtparasitiska nematoder med 40-73% jämfört med kontrollbehandligen utan *C. rosea*, med ökad tillväxt hos plantorna som följd. Nematoder som inte är växtparasitiska påverkades inte av behandlingen.

Ett annat mål inom projektet var att undersöka vilka mekanismer som *C. rosea* använder för att minska antalet växtparasitiska nematoder. Direkt parasitism kunde inte observeras. Däremot så kunde inte nematoder överleva i vätskekulturer där *C. rosea* tidigare hade växt, vilket indikerar att *C. rosea* utsöndrar ämnen eller enzymer som påverkar nematoderna negativt. En jämförande studie av antalet proteas-gener i arvsmassan hos *C. rosea* visade att *C. rosea* har fler gener jämfört med andra liknande svampar. En evolutionär studie visade vidare att *C. rosea* har speciellt många gener för serin-proteaser, vilket tyder på att dessa har en viktig funktion för *C. rosea*.

Förmågan att producera ämnen som påverkar rotsårsnematoder negativt undersöktes hos 53 isolat av *C. rosea*. En statistisk analys identifierade vidare 279 mutationer som kunde kopplas till antagonismen mot växtparasitiska nematoder. Två gener (*nps4* och *nps5*) för icke-ribosomala peptidsyntaser (NRPS) identifierades i de genomiska regioner som segregerade med antagonism, och ytterligare en NRPS gen (*nps1*) valdes ut för fortsatta funktionella studier baserat på befintlig litteratur. Funktionella studier av mutanter där generna hade inaktiverats visade att NPS1, NPS4 och NPS5 fyller en viktig funktion för svampens tillväxt, produktion av sporer och för antagonism mot nematoder. Mutanterna kunde inte heller minska mängden sjukdom på vete orsakad av nematoder lika bra som vildtypen där generna fortfarande var intakta.

Sammanfattningsvis så visar resultaten i denna avhandling att *C. rosea* IK726 kan minska mängden växtparasitiska nematoder i naturligt infekterad jord och därmed förbättra tillväxten hos grödor. Den främsta mekanismen är troligen produktion av ämnen och enzymer som har en negativ påverkan på nematoderna. Svampen *C. rosea* kan potentiellt användas inom integrerat växtskydd och därmed bidra till minskad användning av kemiska växtskyddsmedel.

Acknowledgements

All praise to Allah Almighty and His blessings, for giving me an opportunity, strength, ability and endurance to complete this research study satisfactorily. My humblest gratitude to the Holy Prophet Muhammad (peace be upon him), whose way of life has been continuous guidance for me!

Undertaking a PhD education has been a truly life-changing experience for me, and it would not have been possible without the support and guidance that I have received from many people.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my main supervisor Magnus Karlsson for his continuous support during my PhD education and related research, for his patience, sincere cooperation, motivation and for sharing his immense knowledge and ideas. I am also grateful for his guidance, which helped me throughout my research, during the writing process and to accomplish my PhD education. He has played an enormous role in my academic and personal development. I could not have imagined having a better supervisor and mentor for my PhD education than him.

Besides my main supervisor, I would like to extend profound gratitude to the rest of my assistant supervisors, Dan Funck Jensen, Mukesh Dubey and Maria Viketoft. Thank you very much Dan for offering me an opportunity to work in your research group. I appreciate your kindness and understanding, for offering new ideas and attention anytime I asked for it. I am highly thankful to Mukesh Dubey for his invaluable help and training in the laboratory, for helping to improve my knowledge of molecular biology and for discussing new ideas. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Maria Viketoft for constant encouragement, support and constructive discussion about tiny animals known as "Nematodes".

My sincere thanks also go to Kathryn Bushley who provided me with an opportunity to join her team as an intern at the University of Minnesota and for allowing me to use the laboratory's facilities during my stay. I am also thankful to Mikael Andersson Franko, Uwe Menzel, Martin Broberg and Anders Broberg for their help and for discussing statistical, genomic and chemistry data. I am also thankful to Annika Gustafsson for helping in preparation of *Clonostachys rosea* formulation.

Thanks to all the Mykopat family. Thanks to Karin Backstrom, Erica Häggström and Jenny Svadling for their guidance about administrative things. Thanks to Anders Dahlberg for constructive feedback on the planning and follow-up during my PhD education. Thanks to Shahid Mahmood and Chandra Shekar Kenchappa for motivating me during my PhD education and for discussing the science. I greatly appreciate the support provided by Leslie Paul, for fixing all my IT-related problems and being available every time whenever I needed help regarding computer issues throughout my PhD journey. Thanks to Katarina Ihrmark, Rena Gadjieva and Maria Jonsson for their advice while working in laboratories. My deep appreciation goes to all mykopat PhD students for stimulating discussions and also for all the fun we have had in the last four years. A sincere thanks to my landlords Lars Ohlander and Eva-May Ohlander for their care, love and making my stay comfortable in Uppsala.

Last but not the least, my sincere appreciation with due respect goes to my parents for their great understanding, continuous love and prayers while I have undertaken this journey. I also extend my cordial thanks to my brothers, sisters, family members and all well-wishers for their love and moral support during this long journey.